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Chairman’s Report 

Corporate Directory 

It is my pleasure to present this annual report to 

shareholders. 

Your company has progressed substantially over the 

past 12 months. Having agreed to a name change 

at the last Annual General Meeting, we went on to 

complete the acquisition of Cape Alumina and 

advance the Bauxite Hills Project. 

The Bauxite Hills Project Pre-Feasibility Study was 

released in February followed in June by the 

announcement of an Increase in Ore Reserve  

to 48.2 million tonnes of Direct Shipping Ore.  

I expect the soon to be released Definitive Feasibility 

Study will confirm the viability and excellent Project 

economics.  

Now, with the unexpected Government  

requirement that we undertake a full Environment 

Impact Statement, we are examining ways to  

further optimise the Project.  We certainly have the 

ore reserves and resources to support larger levels of 

production which would increase profitability 

significantly. 

Bauxite, thanks to Indonesia’s ongoing ban on the 

export of raw materials, continues to be in strong 

demand – particularly Cape York bauxite.  China  

will import around 45 million tonnes of bauxite in  

2015 and by 2025 the CM Group has forecast this  

will grow to a potential 104 million tonnes.  

The company has met many milestones and the 

“business end” of the Project is very much in sight. 

Importantly, at the time of preparing this report, 

Native Title Agreements were being finalised. The 

Board is confident of continuing progress through 

the remaining approvals and financing components 

of the Project.   

  

Metro’s recent capital raising was successful and 

well supported by shareholders and new investors - 

even in a tough, global financial market.  

Your Board’s decision twelve months ago to position 

the company as one with “Diversified Commodities – 

Deliberate Focus” has proven to be prudent.  

The continuing malaise surrounding the coal industry 

confirms that by focussing on Bauxite Hills we 

backed the right Project and the right commodity at 

the right time. Your company’s significant coal 

resources are secure on a minimum expenditure 

basis and we will wait for a turnaround in the industry 

in future years. 

Our aim has always been to provide Shareholders 

with an investment in both a Company and a 

commodity with excellent potential.  

In closing, I would like to thank our major 

shareholders for their ongoing support and in 

particular those who participated in our recent 

Entitlement Offer. Our current cash position of over 

$6million puts us in a strong position to advance the 

Bauxite Hills Project. 

I sincerely thank all Shareholders for their support 

and ongoing confidence in Metro Mining Ltd.  

To my fellow Board Members and the Metro Mining 

team  led by CEO Simon Finnis, congratulations and 

thank you for your efforts, sheer tenacity and 

professionalism.  We remain well positioned for the 

years ahead. 

Sincerely, 

 

Stephen Everett  

Chairman 

 

 

Our aim has been to provide 

Shareholders with an investment in 

both a Company and a commodity 

with excellent potential…  

“ 
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report 

Corporate Directory 

It is with pleasure that I formally report to you on the 

activities of the past year, in my first year as CEO. 

When I commenced 11 months ago we outlined to 

the market what we needed to achieve to deliver 

Bauxite Hills and take advantage of the shortfall we 

could see in bauxite supply into China.  As we reflect 

upon these goals we have had tremendous success 

in many areas: 

PFS delivered on time with outstanding 

economic results; 

Non Binding MoU with Xinfa for 1Mtpa of 

bauxite (50% of annual production) executed; 

Fundraising of A$5.6M completed; 

All Mining Lease applications lodged; 

Commencement of the Definitive Feasibility 

Study;  

Continued excellent relationship with our 

Native Title Holders as we move quickly 

towards a Native title Agreement, and; 

Completion and lodgement of our 

Environmental Approval documentation. 

Your Chairman has referred to the decision by 

Department of Environment and Heritage Protection  

that we undertake a full Environment Impact 

Statement (EIS) instead of our intended Site Specific 

Environment Approval.  This was a particularly 

disappointing decision given we had tailored the 

project not to exceed any criteria that would 

normally require an EIS be carried out. 

We will now work to maximise every available 

opportunity whilst we comply with new EIS 

requirement. 

Now that we are no longer restricted to a 2Mtpa 

production limit we have begun working out the 

optimum mining rate.  This is likely to mean a 

significant increase of annual production which will 

increase our relevance in the market (both from a 

sales and financing perspective), realise economies 

of scale and deliver superior financial returns.  With 

the extra time we will consider our exploration 

strategy, hoping to deliver additional bauxite 

resources and carry out further community and 

stakeholder engagement. 

I sincerely thank our management team who have 

worked tirelessly to deliver these results, our loyal 

shareholders who strongly supported our fundraising 

initiatives and the Board for their guidance and 

support.   

Financing the Project and attracting & maintaining 

investors remains an important task for any 

Company in these challenging times.  We are no 

different and have spent considerable time and 

effort introducing the company to potential investors 

throughout Australia and overseas. The effectiveness 

of that campaign is reflected in our Market 

Capitalisation which has increased threefold though 

the year.  Our presentations have always been well 

received and, I believe that now we are heading 

toward a much larger project we will see increasing 

positive engagement.  

Our aim is for your Company to have diversified 

commodities but a deliberate focus.  

Sincerely 

 

 

 

Simon Finnis 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

  

We have had tremendous success 

in many areas….PFS delivered on 

time with outstanding economic 

results.… 

“ 



Board of Directors 

Jijun Liu 

Non-Executive Director. 

Jijun Liu is the Managing 

Director of the China Xinfa 

Group Corporation Limited 

which controls one of the 

largest alumina-aluminium 

enterprises in China. Mr Liu is 

also a member of various 

government committees.  

Dongping Wang 

Non-Executive Director. 

Dongping Wang is 

Chairman of Dadi 

Engineering Development 

Group, China's largest coal 

industry engineering group.  

He is a highly renowned 

coal processing expert and 

a prominent figure in the 

Chinese coal industry.  

Philip Hennessy 
Independent  

Non-Executive Director 

Phil Hennessy has over 30 

years corporate financial 

experience and was KPMG 

Qld Chairman for 13 years. 

He is an Independent 

Company Director  and 

Advisor and serves on both 

public and private boards 

across the resources, 

financial services, property 

and manufacturing sectors.  

George Lloyd Independent 

Non-Executive Director 

George Lloyd has over 30 

years  resource industry 

experience including senior 

executive and board 

member roles of listed and 

unlisted companies with 

interests in minerals, energy, 

industry services and 

corporate finance. He is 

Chairman of Ausenco Ltd 

and Pryme Energy Ltd. 

Lindsay Ward Independent 

Non-Executive Director 

Lindsay Ward has over 25 

years industry experience 

holding executive positions 

in mining, exploration, 

mineral processing, ports, 

rail and logistics.  He is CEO 

of the Tasmanian Gas 

Pipeline and previous GM 

Patrick Ports & Pacific 

National Bulk Rail. 

 

 

 

Stephen Everett has more 

than 40 years Board and 

management experience 

in resources in Australia and 

overseas. He also Chairman 

of Agrimin Ltd and formerly 

was Chair of BeMaX 

Resources NL, Australian 

Solomons Gold Ltd. JMS 

Civil and Mining Pty Ltd and 

IronRidge Resources Ltd. 

Stephen Everett  

Independent  

Non-Executive Chairman 



Corporate Directory 

Bauxite Hills Project 

Company flagship the Bauxite Hills Project, 95km north 

of Weipa, has an estimated 53.6 million tonne bauxite 

resource (Measured, Indicated & Inferred.) 

A Pre-Feasibility Study (based on 2Mtpa of Direct 

Shipping Ore) was released in February. The PFS 

confirmed a viable project with excellent economics 

(refer PFS Metrics page 8).  

In June, Metro announced an increase in the Ore 

Reserve from 12.1Mt to 48.2 Mt.  It is anticipated the 

Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) currently being 

produced will confirm the value of the 2Mtpa Project. 

Metro Mining has now commenced work on an 

Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) that provides  

an opportunity to further optimise the Project well 

above 2 Mtpa.  

Major Project components, including Native Title 

 

 

 

Agreements, are being finalised. Contracting 

negotiations and Mining Lease Applications are 

underway. 

In August, Metro Mining  and China’s Xinfa Group 

entered into a non-binding Offtake MoU (covering 

50%  of annual production).  

Project Features  

Bauxite Hills consists of two bauxite plateaus (BH1 

and BH6) situated just south of the Skardon River.  

Significantly, the quality and nature of the bauxite is 

suitable for export as Direct Shipping Ore (DSO) 

allowing the development of a low capital and 

operating cost mine.   

A number of significant costs traditionally associated 

with production of a beneficiated bauxite product 

are avoided.  These include reduced infrastructure 

requirements and significantly reduced water and 

energy demands.  Tailings dams are not required 
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Bauxite Hills – Project Description 

and mine operations are simple involving traditional 

earthmoving equipment. 

The bauxite is located above the shallowest 

groundwater aquifer and therefore only minimal 

overburden will need to be removed.  

Project Features  

Several shallow open cuts will be connected via 

internal haul roads to a main north-south haul road 

leading to a barge loading facility on the Skardon 

River.  

Employing around 130 personnel, the project will be 

serviced by two main operating contracts - 

earthmoving and trans-shipment.  

Key Components of the Project include: 

 Shallow open cuts 

 Internal haul and access roads 

 Barge loading facility on the Skardon River 

 Mine Infrastructure Area including the (ROM) 

run-of-mine stockpile, barge loading conveyor 

point, earthmoving equipment park, admin 

offices, workshops and fuelling facilities 

 Accommodation camp 

 

 

 

 Communications towers and system 

 Raw and potable water supply, and 

 Sewage treatment plant. 

Simple Mining Method 

As the bauxite is DSO quality the mining method will 

be open cut and the operating processes will include: 

 Clearing of trees 

 Removal and stockpiling of overburden 

 Mining of bauxite with front end loaders 

 Road-train transport of product material to the 

ROM stockpile where the ore will be dumped 

and rehandled using front end loaders  

 Mobile screening and crushing   

 Two product stockpiles  

 Barges moored to piles in the Skardon River. 

Loading will occur via conveyor from the 

stockpiles.  

 Barges towed by tugs from the loading point to 

the transhipment location, approximately 12km 

from mouth of the Skardon River, Gulf of 

Carpentaria 

 Loading onto 50,000 t (Handymax) or 70,000 t 

(Panamax) class vessels. 
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Operational Metrics 

Production Rate Up 2 Mtpa* DSO 

Strip Ratio (waste 

to ore) 
1:10 

Mine Life 27 years* 

Construction Start Q2 2016 

First Production Q4 2016 

Financial Metrics** (Real) 

NPV (15%) after tax A$197m 

IRR (100% Equity) 88% 

Construction Capex  A$27.4m 

Sustaining Capex (LOM) A$18.1m 

Average Operating Cost (FOB) A$26.7/t 

Average Price Received (FOB) A$55.3/t 

Average Cash Margin (FOB) A$28.6/t 

Average Annual NPAT  A$37.9m 

Capital Payback from 1st production 1.1 years 

Capital Expenditure (A$m) 

Mine Access (Haul Road) 2.8 

Mine & Barge Loading 

Infrastructure 
10.6 

Mine Camp & Airport 5.0 

Mining Equipment 2.5 

Contingency & Owners 

Costs 
6.5 

Total Capex 27.4 

Operational Expenditure (A$/t) 

Mining Cost to ROM stockpile 3.0 

Crush, Load and Barge costs 10.5 

Off Mine costs (inc marketing) 6.8 

Sub-Total Site & Overhead Costs 20.3 

Royalties 6.4 

Total Cost to FOB Inc. Royalties 26.7 

Western Cape York 

Bauxite Hills  Pre-Feasibility Study – Key Outcomes 



Bauxite Hills – Resources and Reserves 

The completion of a Pre-Feasibility Study (PFS) on the 

Bauxite Hills Project in February 2015 saw the 

identification of Probable Ore Reserves at BH6.  

Much of the BH1 Resource was also upgraded to an  

Ore Reserve in June 2015. 

At the BH1 area, analyses of samples from drill holes 

resulted in a significant increase in the reserve base 

to 48.2 Mt* of Proved and Probable Reserves 

containing 50.2% total Al2O3 and 6.4% reactive silica 

(refer below table). The Reserves are included within 

a total Measured, Indicated and Inferred Resource 

of 53.6 Mt at 50.6% Al2O3 and 6.3% reactive silica. 

The bauxite mineralisation is defined by grades of 

≥45% total Al2O3 and ≤8% reactive silica.   

The mine plan being developed as part of the 

Bauxite Hills Project Definitive Feasibility Study (DFS) is 

based on the new and upgraded Resource and 

Reserve classification of BH1 and BH6. 

After mining, the bauxite will be transhipped as 

Direct Shipping Ore (DSO) via the Skardon River. As a 

Direct Shipping Ore, requiring no beneficiation, the 

reserves represent marketable product tonnes. 

 

Area Category 

DSO2 

Tonnes 

(Mt)1 

DSO Bauxite Qualities (Dry Basis) 

Total Al2O3 

(%) 

THA3 

(%) 

Total SiO2 

(%) 
RxSi4 (%) 

BH1 & BH6 Measured Resource (Dry In-situ)  41.8 51.0 39.2 11.0 6.1 

BH1 & BH6 Indicated Resource (Dry In-situ)  8.3 49.3 37.1 14.0 6.8 

BH1 & BH6 Inferred Resource (Dry In-situ)  3.4 48.4 35.9 14.8 7.2 

TOTAL RESOURCE 53.6 50.6 38.6 11.7 6.3 

BH1 & BH6 Proved Reserve5 (ROM @ 10% Moisture) 41.8 50.7 38.6 10.9 6.3 

BH1 & BH6 Probable Reserve6 (ROM @ 10% Moisture) 6.4 49.3 36.8 13.4 6.9 

TOTAL MARKETABLE ORE RESERVES 48.2 50.2 38.4 11.2 6.4 

1 For BH1 and BH6 the tonnages are calculated using the following default bulk densities determined from a program of sonic drilling; 1.6g/cm3 

for BH1 and 2g/cm3 for BH6. Actual values are used where measurements have been taken 

2 DSO or “Direct shipping ore” is defined as bauxite that can be exported directly with minimal processing and beneficiation. 

3 THA is trihydrate available alumina (gibbsite alumina + kaolinite alumina – low temperature desilication product (DSP) alumina) at 1500C. 

4 RxSi is reactive silica at 1500C. 

5  Proved Reserve  -  the proved  reserve is included in the BH1 & BH6 Measured resource 

6 Probable Reserve  -  the probable reserve is included in the BH1 & BH6 Indicated resource 
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Community Relations 

The past year has been very successful and rewarding 

as the Company continues to build on the positive 

relationships, already established, through active 

engagement with many facets of the local 

community and other stakeholders.   

The major external stakeholders in the Bauxite Hills 

Project are The Ankamuthi People (Ankamuthi) the 

Traditional Owners and applicants to the Native Title 

Claims and The Old Mapoon Aboriginal Corporation 

(OMAC), which is the trustee for the land.   

The Company has held a number of formal and 

informal meetings with the Ankamuthi negotiating a 

Native Title Agreement and with OMAC as part of the 

negotiation of a Land Access Agreement. 

These agreements will cover important topics such as  

 Cultural Heritage Management, 

 Environmental management, 

 Land rehabilitation, 

 Employment and training opportunities for local 

people, 

 Business opportunities and, 

 Compensation 

In addition to engaging with the major stakeholders, 

the Company has also met with a number of other 

community and business bodies, government 

agencies and political representatives. These 

meetings also provide an opportunity to pick up ideas 

and suggestions for the Project and to hear of any 

community concerns.  

Bauxite Hills, with its long life, will provide real job 

opportunities for the Ankamuthi and for other people 

in northern Cape York.  The royalty flow paid to the 

Ankamuthi Trustees will generate funds to support 

projects and initiatives that benefit both the local  

and the broader community.  The Company has  

also undertaken to work with the major stakeholders 

to develop business opportunities associated with  

the mine. 

While the economic benefits are substantial other 

important aspects have also been safeguarded. 

The Cultural Heritage Management Plan will ensure 

that all matters of cultural importance to the 

 

 

Ankamuthi are properly taken into account and  

the mine has been designed to have a very low 

environmental impact during operation, with 

rehabilitation returning the land to very much its 

original state. 

 

 

Gaining both State and Federal Government 

environmental approvals for the Bauxite Hills Project 

has been the major focus for the year with extensive 

field works, stakeholder engagement and preparation 

of regulatory reports all being completed during this 

time.  

Field work and associated impact assessments for the 

Project have included: 

 Terrestrial and aquatic ecology surveys over 

both the wet and dry seasons  

 Freshwater, marine and groundwater quality 

monitoring over the wet and dry seasons  

 Detailed hydraulic and hydrogeological 

modelling 

 Bathymetric survey and sediment sampling of 

the Skardon River  

 Meteorological monitoring 

Understanding the site’s pre-mining environmental 

values has allowed detailed impact assessments and 

appropriate management plans to be developed for 

the project, to ensure the mining area will be 

rehabilitated back to a native ecosystem with similar, 

appropriate environmental values. 

Metro Mining is also working with local stakeholders, 

such as the Mapoon Land and Sea Rangers, to 

develop cooperative management plans for the 

major environmental issues in the region, including 

feral animal and weed controls, fire management 

and protection of significant species such as turtles 

and migratory birds. 

Submission of both the Federal Government 

Environmental Protection and Biodiversity 

Conservation Act (EPBC) Referral, and the State 

Government Application for Environmental Authority 

for a Non-Standard Mining Operation occurred shortly 

after the reporting period for this Annual Report, with 

notification of an EIS requirement received in 

September 2015. Approvals are now expected to be 

completed early 2017. 
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Bauxite Hills –  Environment & Community Relations 

Environmental Approvals 



    

Bauxite 
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Background 

Bauxite is the primary ore of aluminium with approx 5 

tonnes of bauxite needed to produce 1 tonne of 

aluminium.  Approximately 70% - 80% of the world's 

dry bauxite production is processed first into alumina 

and then into aluminium by electrolysis. 

Australia is one of the top producers of bauxite with 

almost one-third of the world's production, followed 

by China, Brazil, India, and Guinea.  

Structural change in the aluminium industry resulting  

in increased separation of bauxite mining, alumina 

refining and aluminium smelting has resulted in the 

transformation in the global third party traded bauxite 

market. 

China has seen a massive expansion of aluminium 

production driven by the ongoing urbanisation of the 

country.  At the same time China’s domestic bauxite 

reserve base is depleting.  Around two thirds of the 

country’s bauxite refining capacity has been 

domestically sourced and the impact of depleting 

reserves and falling grades is predicted to be severe. 

Previously Indonesia supplied around 80% of China’s 

import needs. However, in 2014 the Indonesian 

Government banned the export of unprocessed 

mineral products and forced Chinese refiners to 

secure product elsewhere. 

Initially this pushed bauxite prices up. However, the 

emergence of low-cost Malaysian bauxite saw prices 

come off 2014 peaks. Now many analysts predict 

Malaysian supply may be unsustainable, meaning 

short pricing is beginning to strengthen.  

China’s major merchant refiners, including Xinfa, the 

 

 

 

 

Nanshan Group and Weiqiao have been working to 

develop new global bauxite sources.  The strategy 

has been to avoid the potential for a replication of 

the concentrated supply base experienced in the 

global iron ore industry.  

Australia, Fiji, Guinea, Ghana, Jamaica, Dominican 

Republic, Brazil and other counties have become 

supply contenders.  

Australian bauxite deposits are considered to be  

the main source of continued reliable supply and 

consistent quality of bauxite into China.  Internal 

unrest in India, civil conflicts in Guinea, limited 

infrastructure and remote locations in developing 

countries support this view.  

Australia, particularly the Cape York region, is a 

globally significant and dominant supplier of bauxite 

to China.  Chinese refineries have gained familiarity 

with the region’s ore qualities and processing 

requirements. Australia is also recognised as the most 

stable jurisdiction in developing mines to provide 

Chinese imports in the near and mid-term.   

Aluminium production growth in China is forecast to 

remain strong, with much of the industry forecasting 

around 8% to 10% growth over the decade ahead. 

The CM Group estimates China’s bauxite import 

requirements to rise to 60 MTPY by 2020, up from 36 

MTPY in 2014, then rise further to 100-110 MTPY by 2025, 

as domestic reserves become more seriously 

depleted.  

As at 2014 China produced 50% of the world’s 

aluminium production and initiatives to reduce 

smelting costs indicate China is poised to become 

even more competitive globally underpinning 

demand growth for bauxite.  

 

Bauxite  – Market 
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Forecast of China Bauxite Imports 

Source  
CM Group 

Aluminium is a robust light-

weight metal used in a variety 

of consumer products and 

construction.  
 

• China imported  22.7 Mt of 

bauxite  H1 2015.  

• Indonesian bauxite ban still 

in place. 

• Malaysia could export up 

to 15-20 Mt in 2015 but 

bauxite resources are 

unknown. 



Metro Mining controls approximately 1,200 square 

kilometres of bauxite exploration tenements in 

western Cape York, a region world-renowned for its 

high-quality, export-grade bauxite.  

Within this area the company has 14 granted 

Exploration Permits for Minerals (EPMs), one EPM 

Application (EPMA) and eleven Mining Lease 

Applications (MLAs). The company has recently 

applied to consolidate its holding by conditionally 

surrendering eight tenements in favour of three large 

tenements that define the Northern, Central and 

Southern Cape York projects. 

The company has, over the past nine years, 

undertaken systematic exploration programs over a 

number of bauxite plateaus and outlined significant 

Direct Shipping Ore (DSO) resources at its flagship 

Bauxite Hills project – now the subject of a Definitive 

Feasibility Study (DFS). 

In addition the company has identified bauxite 

resources at its Musgrave project as well as the BH2, 

BH4 and BH5 plateaus located to the south and east 

of the Bauxite Hills project. 

The company is planning initial reconnaissance-style 

exploration programs over other potentially bauxitic 

plateaus at its Central and Southern Cape York 

Projects. Any areas deemed to have bauxite 

potential will be followed up with future drilling 

programs. 

 

 

Metro Mining also holds two granted Exploration 

Permits for Minerals (EPM) over a Central 

Queensland bauxite project located west of 

Bundaberg.  

 

 

Bauxite  – Exploration & Tenements 

Western Cape York 

Central Queensland  

Other Resources in Western Cape York 

Area Category In-situ1 dry tonnes Dry Beneficiated2 tonnes 

Beneficiated bauxite qualities3 

Total Al2O3  Total SiO2  

Musgrave Indicated 2.2 1.6 52.8 11.2 

BH2 Inferred 8.7 5.8 52.9 10 

BH4 Inferred 2 1.1 49 11.3 

BH5 Inferred 1.8 0.9 50 10.7 

1The tonnages are calculated using a bulk density of 1.8 
2Beneficaited tonnes are determined from the % recovery of material greater than 1.2mm based on laboratory screening of each sample 
3Beneficated bauxite qualities are based on the analyses of samples with material greater than 1.2mm 
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Metro’s Cape York Bauxite Projects 



Bauxite  – Exploration and Mining Tenement Schedule 

Tenement Project Name 

 

Holder/ Applicant 

Status 

(Expiry date) 

Area Ha (MLAs) 

No. Sub Block 

(EPM) 

Commodity 

Targeted 

MLA 20572 Pisolite Hills 1 Cape Alumina P/L Application 12311.4 Bauxite-Kaolin 

MLA 20573 Pisolite Hills 2 Cape Alumina P/L Application 3207.8 Bauxite-Kaolin 

MLA 20574 Pisolite Hills 3 Cape Alumina P/L Application 3885.5 Bauxite-Kaolin 

MLA 20612 Port Musgrave Cape Alumina P/L Application 1050.3 Bauxite 

MLA 20676 Bauxite Hills 1 
Aldoga Minerals P/L 

Cape Alumina P/L 
Application 2317.91 Bauxite 

MLA 20687 Bauxite Hills 2 
Aldoga Minerals P/L 

Cape Alumina P/L 
Application 1647 Bauxite 

MLA 20688 Bauxite Hills 6 East 
Aldoga Minerals P/L 

Cape Alumina P/L 
Application 531 Bauxite 

MLA 20689 Bauxite Hills 6 West 
Aldoga Minerals P/L 

Cape Alumina P/L 
Application 2052 Bauxite 

MLA 100047 Port Haul Road 
Aldoga Minerals P/L 

Cape Alumina P/L 
Application 45.23 Infrastructure 

MLA 100048 BH1 Haul Road 
Aldoga Minerals P/L 

Cape Alumina P/L 
Application 34.1 Infrastructure 

MLA 100051 Bauxite Hills Port 
Aldoga Minerals P/L 

Cape Alumina P/L 
Application 51.31 Infrastructure 

EPM 14547 Pisolite Hills Cape Alumina P/L Granted (19/4/2016) 48 Bauxite 

EPM 15012 Mapoon Cape Alumina P/L 
Granted (30/11/2019) 

Renewed 
19 Bauxite-Kaolin 

EPM 15077 Worbody Cape Alumina P/L Granted (16/9/2018) 15 Bauxite 

EPM 15173 Duyfken Point Cape Alumina P/L 
Granted (23/2/2019) 

Renewed 
16 Bauxite 

EPM 15263 North Coconut Cape Alumina P/L Granted (29/4/2017) 12 Bauxite 

EPM 15269 Aurukun North Cape Alumina P/L Granted (3/2/2018) 55 Bauxite 

EPM 15277 Pisolite Hills South Cape Alumina P/L 
Granted (22/12/2016) 

Renewed 
20 Bauxite 

EPM 15278 Pisolite Hills North Cape Alumina P/L Granted (29/9/2019) Renewed 53 Bauxite 

EPM 15374 Dulhunty Cape Alumina P/L 
Granted (21/9/2018) 

Renewed 
33 Bauxite 

EPM 15375 Vrilya Cape Alumina P/L 
Granted (21/10/2018) 

Renewed 
53 Bauxite 

EPM 15376 Ducie River Cape Alumina P/L 
Granted (29/9/2019) 

Renewed 
29 Bauxite 

EPM 15848 Toondoon Cape Alumina P/L Granted (22/5/2018) Renewed 9 Bauxite 

EPM 15984 Port Musgrave Cape Alumina P/L 
Granted (23/2/2019) 

Renewed 
4 Bauxite 

EPM 16899 Skardon River Cape Alumina P/L 
Granted (16/12/2019) 

Renewed 
14 Bauxite 

EPM 17499 Eucid Cape Alumina P/L Granted (30/10/2017) 4 Bauxite 

EPM 18281 Auburn Cape Alumina P/L Granted (15/12/2016) 22 Bauxite 

EPMA 15985 Penefather Cape Alumina P/L Application 45 Bauxite 

EPMA 25877 Central Cape York Cape Alumina P/L 

Application 

(To replace conditional surrender 

of EPMs 15012, 15173, 15277) 

50 Bauxite 

EPMA 25878 
Northern Cape 

York 
Cape Alumina P/L 

Application 

(To replace conditional surrender 

of EPMs 15374, 15375) 

86 Bauxite 

EPMA 25879 
Southern Cape 

York 
Cape Alumina P/L 

Application 

(To replace conditional surrender 

of EPMs 15077, 15263, 15269) 

82 Bauxite 
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Board of Directors 

    

Coal 
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Bundi Project (EPC 1164, 1251, 1609 & 2234) 

*MTE ASX Announcement 19 Dec – Goombi Maiden Reserve – Columboola JV 

Coal  – Exploration & Tenements 

0 

Initial assessment of the different working sections 

suggests it may be possible to produce an export 

quality coal without the need for a wash plant.  

These opportunities will be assessed as part of 

future mining studies. 

Following the Company’s decision to minimise 

expenditure on the coal assets all field work has 

been suspended and staff numbers reduced 

accordingly. 

All coal tenements are in good standing and 

limited work on enhancements to the geological 

model is planned for 2016. 

 

Exploration Permit Coal (MTE) 
Mining Leases (Other) 
Indicated Resource Area 

Inferred Resource Area 

The Bundi Project is located near the town of 

Wandoan, Queensland and immediately south of 

Glencore’s proposed Wandoan Open Cut Mine 

development and New Hope Coal’s proposed  

Elimatta Mine. 

The proposed Bundi Project mining area is in the 

northern part of EPC1164, including several sub-blocks 

from the adjoining EPC1251 and EPC1609.   It is focused 

on the down-dip extensions of the Kogan and 

Macalister Seams where coal thickness and quality 

meets specification identified as having potential for 

export grade Thermal Coal.   

Coal quality and washability results from laboratory 

analysis during exploration since 2010 has resulted in 

the current geological model.  This model confirms 

seam correlation and has identified several alternative 

mining horizons. 

These mining horizons exploit different coal ply 

combinations and provide opportunity for thick  

seam low yield extraction or thinner seam higher yield 

extraction.   
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Columboola Joint Venture (EPC 1165) 

The Columboola Project is a joint Venture (JV) between 

SinoCoal Resources P/L (51%) and Metro Mining Ltd 

(49%) and is located near Miles. The JV is targeting the 

down dip extensions of the Macalister coal seams 

currently being mined by Yancoal at the neighbouring 

Cameby Downs thermal coal deposit.  

Since the start of the JV, exploration has confirmed the 

Macalister seam exists across the entire EPC with the 

ultimate identification of an attractive longwall mining 

target. This is in conjunction with the shallow Goombi 

deposit that provides for a potential subsidised start for 

the project. 

During 2015 the JV compiled a comprehensive 

geological data package in a format consistent with 

the standard Chinese data format. This data package 

ensures the project can be restarted at any time and 

also facilitates discussions with other interested parties. 

Furthermore, all necessary information associated with 

the project has been collated and submitted for 

application of the Columboola JV under a  

 

 

*MTE ASX Announcement 19 Dec – Goombi Maiden Reserve – Columboola JV 

Coal  – Exploration & Tenements 

Mineral Development Licence (MDL). This action is 

consistent with Metro Mining’s strategy to minimise 

expenditure during the coal downturn whilst 

keeping the tenement in good stead for future 

development when the thermal coal market 

recovers and coal seam gas activity subsides.  

No exploration or field work is planned for the 

remainder of 2015 or 2016.  
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Project 
Metro Mining 

Ownership 

Resources (Mt) 
Reserves (Mt) JORC 

Indicated Inferred Total 

Bundi (incl Juandah) 100% 296 1705.6 2001.6   2012 

Columboola 49% 242.6 1515.0 1757.6   2012 

Goombi 49% 4.9 13.8 18.7 26.2 2004 

Dalby West 100%   520 520   2004 

Norwood 100%   156 156   2004 

TOTAL   543.5 3910.4 4453.9 26.2   
MTE ASX Announcement 24 October 2013 – Bundi Project Update 

MTE ASX Announcement 19 July 2012 – Bundi Resource Upgrade and Project Update  

MTE ASX Announcement 9 December 2011 – Dalby West Project – Maiden Inferred Resource of 520Mt  

MTE ASX Announcement 6 September 2012 – Maiden Indicated Resource for Columboola JV plus 26% increase in Inferred Resource  

MTE ASX Announcement 19 December 2012 – Goombi Maiden Reserve Announced 

Tenement Project Name Holder/ Applicant 
Status 

(Expiry date) 

Area Ha (MLAs) 

No. Sub Block (EPC) 

Commodity 

Target 

MDLA 3003 Columboola 
SinoCoal Resources 51%  

Metro Mining Ltd 49% 
Application 
(24/06/15) 

24560Ha 

(Contained within 
EPC 1165) 

Coal 

EPC 1164 Wandoan West Bundi Coal Project P/L Granted (12/12/07) 215 Coal 

EPC 1251 Wandoan West 2 Bundi Coal Project P/L Granted (17/09/08) 19 Coal 

EPC 1609 Wandoan West 3 Bundi Coal Project P/L Granted (30/01/12) 18 Coal 

EPC 2234 Wandoan West 4 Bundi Coal Project P/L Granted (21/05/13) 3 Coal 

EPC 1165 Columboola 
SinoCoal Resources 51%  

Metro Mining Ltd 49% 
Granted (10/12/07) 280 Coal 

EPC 1166 Dalby West Metro Mining Ltd Granted (12/12/07) 41 Coal 

EPC 1167 Roma North Metro Mining Ltd Granted (12/12/07) 289 Coal 

EPC 1159 Injune Creek Metro Mining Ltd Granted (12/12/07) 237 Coal 

EPC 1640 Pentland South Metro Mining Ltd Granted 11/02/14 111 Coal 

Coal Resource and Tenements 



Metro Mining | Social Responsibility 

Metro Mining is committed to creating long-term 

company value by supporting positive social, 

cultural and economic outcomes while minimising 

environmental impacts where we operate.  

The principals of Ecologically Sustainable 

Development (ESD) are incorporated into all of our 

business processes. In the past, this has 

predominantly been through both our coal and 

bauxite exploration programs where safety, 

cooperative land access agreements, Traditional 

Owner clearance and minimised environmental 

impacts are a priority. As we progress towards 

mining operations, we are extending this approach 

throughout the extensive field work that has been 

required for the Bauxite Hills Project environmental 

approval process, and into the management plans 

that are being developed for this project. 

As a responsible corporate citizen, Metro Mining will 

continue to maintain compliance with all of our 

Environmental Authority conditions for both 

exploration and mine operations, and work 

collaboratively with stakeholders across all of our 

mining tenements to deliver sustainable, profitable 

mining projects that also have positive social, 

economic and environmental outcomes for the 

local community and the broader Australian public. 

 

Metro Mining supports and is committed to working 

closely with the communities in which it operates. 

Metro Mining strives to keep all stakeholders 

informed about its activities and engages in a 

positive way with all stakeholders in order to establish 

and maintain positive, harmonious working 

relationships. 

Metro Mining respects the unique and important 

association Traditional Land Owners and local 

indigenous communities have for 'country', the land, 

environment, culture and a traditional way of life.  

Before undertaking any mining, Metro Mining will 

negotiate appropriate agreements with the 

Aboriginal Trustees and Traditional Land Owners of 

the site. 

Metro Mining have sound relationships with the 

Traditional Land Owners in the areas in which it  

operates.  

The Company understands the need to work with 

the local community to identify and train personnel 

and will commit to a long-term partnership with local 

residents in delivering this outcome.  

The Company also commits to employ part of their 

work  force from the local community. 

 

 

Sustainable Development Community Engagement  & 

Indigenous Relations 
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“ 

Statements and material contained in this Report, particularly those regarding possible or assumed future performance, production levels or rates, 

commodity prices, resources or potential growth of Metro Mining Limited, industry growth or other trend projections are, or may be, forward looking 

statements.  Such statements relate to future events and expectations and, as such, involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Graphs used 

in the presentation (including data used in the graphs) are sourced from third parties and Metro Mining has not independently verified the 

information. Metro Mining is at an early development stage and while it does not currently have a operating bauxite mine it is taking early and 

preliminary steps (such as but not limited to Prefeasibility studies etc.) that are intended to ultimately result in the building and construction of an 

operating mine at its project areas. Although reasonable care has been taken to ensure that the facts stated in this Presentation are accurate and or 

that the opinions expressed are fair and reasonable, no reliance can be placed for any purpose whatsoever on the information contained in this 

document or on its completeness. Actual results and developments may differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward looking 

statements depending on a variety of factors. Nothing in this Report should be construed as either an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy or 

sell shares in any jurisdiction.  

Competent Person’s Statement: Technical information about the Bauxite Hills Project and information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is 

based on information compiled by Neil McLean who is a consultant to Metro Mining and a Fellow of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 

(F.AusIMM).  Mr McLean has sufficient experience that is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the 

activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration 

Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr McLean consents to the inclusion in the report of the matters based on information in the form and 

context in which it appears. 

The information in this report that relates to Mining and Reserves is based on information compiled by MEC Mining and reviewed by Maria Joyce, a 

Competent Person who is a Chartered Engineer of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.  The information in this report to which this 

statement is attached that relates to the “Metro Mining – Bauxite Hills” Reserve Estimate based on information compiled by Maria Joyce, a consultant 

to Metro Mining and a Competent Person who is a Chartered Engineer of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.  Maria Joyce is the 

head of the Technical Services division and full-time employee of MEC Mining Pty Ltd. Maria Joyce has sufficient experience that is relevant to the 

style of mineralization, type of deposit under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 

2012 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’.  Maria Joyce consents to the 

inclusion in the report of the matters based on her information in the form and context in which it appears. 

With reference to resources in the Metro Mining Thermal Coal Resource in the Surat Basin. Information in this Report relates to the Compilation of 

existing data and Exploration Results is based on information compiled by Mr Ed Radley who is a Member of the Australian Institute of Mining and 

Metallurgy (MAusIMM) (Membership No 300512). Mr Ed Radley is an independent Geological Resource Consultant retained by Metro Mining Limited.  

Mr Ed Radley has sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity 

which he is undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the ‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, 

Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves’. Mr Radley has consented in writing for inclusion in this announcement the matters based on the information in 

the form and context it appears. The JORC Code 2004 Information has not been updated to comply with the JORC Code 2012 on the basis that the 

information has not materially changed since it was last reported. 

DISCLAIMER 
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The directors present their report, together with the financial statements, on the consolidated entity (referred to 
hereafter as the 'consolidated entity') consisting of Metro Mining Limited (referred to hereafter as the 'Company' or 
'parent entity') and the entities it controlled for the year ended 30 June 2015. 

 Directors 

The following persons were directors of Metro Mining Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the 
date of this report, unless otherwise stated: 

 Mr S Everett  Mr X Yuan (Alternate) (appointed 1 December 2014) 

Mr P Hennessy (appointed 30 September 2014) Mr K Xiao (Alternate) (appointed 12 January 2015) 

Mr G Lloyd (appointed 8 April 2015) Mr A Gillies (resigned 30 September 2014) 

Mr L Ward Mr J Haley (Alternate) (resigned 30 September 2014) 

Mr D Wang Mr R Finch (Alternate) (resigned 1 December 2014) 

Mr J Liu (appointed 12 January 2015)  

   

Operating and financial review 
 
Overview of the consolidated entity 
During the financial year the principal activities of the consolidated entity consisted of demonstrating the feasibility of 
the Bauxite Hills Project, acquiring the remainder of Cape Alumina Ltd, and maintaining coal tenements. This was as 
a result of depressed coal prices and strong Bauxite prices. Other than those noted in this report, there were no 
other significant changes in the principal activities during the year. 
 
During the year: 

 The Company made a scrip offer for the remaining shares in Cape Alumina Limited  (name now changed to 
Cape Alumina Pty Ltd) (“Cape Alumina”), offering existing Cape Alumina shareholders 1 Metro Mining share 
for every 1.3 shares held in Cape Alumina. The Company achieved 90% shareholding in Cape Alumina in 
November 2014 before completing the compulsory acquisition of all remaining shares in December 2014. 

 The Company issued 79,834,336 shares as part of the acquisition of Cape Alumina. 

 The Company changed its name from MetroCoal Limited to Metro Mining Limited to better reflect the 
broader operations of the consolidated entity following the takeover of Cape Alumina. 

 Cape Alumina was delisted from the Australian Securities Exchange following the takeover by Metro Mining. 

 Invested $2.49 million  in continuing its tenement exploration activities This expenditure included the 
following:- 

o Completing the concept and pre-feasibility studies on the Bauxite Hills project; 

o Upgrading the Bauxite Hills resource to a Proven Reserve status; 

o Continuing work on the environmental approvals 

o Commencing the Right to Negotiate process with the Native Title participants; 

o Undertaking activities towards the Definitive Feasibility Study. 
 

 Appointed Simon Finnis as Chief Executive Officer; and 

 Appointed Mr Philip Hennessy, Mr George Lloyd and Mr Jijun Liu as Directors. 

 The Company received a further $250,000 consideration for the sale of the Hey Point tenements and 
deferred the remainder of $750,000, which has now increased to $825,000 and will be paid in two 
instalments being $275,000 in September 2015 and $550,000 in December 2015. 

 In February 2015, the Company released the Bauxite Hills Pre-feasibility Study (PFS) which included plans 
for a bauxite mine producing just under 2 million tonnes per annum and showed a Real NPV (15%) of $197 
Million and 88% return on capital (refer ASX release dated 17 February 2015). 

 In June 2015, the Company increased the Ore Reserve at the Bauxite Hills project from 12.1 million tonnes 
to 48.2 million tonnes and increased the mine life to 27 years (refer ASX release dated 2 June 2015).  Metro 
confirms all material assumptions underpinning the production target and corresponding financial information 
continue to apply and have not materially changed as per Listing Rule 5.19.2. 

 The Company is continuing development of the Bauxite Hills project, with first production targeted for the 
third quarter of 2016.  To meet this target, work is progressing on environmental approvals, native title 
negotiations under the Right to Negotiation process, and the definitive feasibility study. 
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The consolidated entity’s strategy for future years is to focus on the development and then operation of the Bauxite 
Hills project.  This includes but is not limited to the following: 

 Completion of the Definitive Feasibility Study,  

 Obtaining environmental approvals and completing the Right to Negotiate process. 

 Obtaining finance for project construction. 

The consolidated entity will also continue the exploration, evaluation and development of its other projects.  The 
consolidated entity believes its strategy is achievable. 

 
Dividends 

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no amount has been declared or paid by way of a 
dividend since 30 June 2015 and to the date of this report. 

 

Review of financial condition 
The loss for the consolidated entity after providing for income tax was $2.773,292 (30 June 2014: $15,694,963) 
including impairment of nil (30 June 2014: $13,701,736) in relation to the consolidated entity’s exploration and 
evaluation expenditures. 

As at 30 June 2015, the consolidated entity had cash and cash equivalents and term deposits of $3.1 million (2014: 
$7.9 million), total current liabilities of approximately $0.8 million (2014: $0.4 million) and net assets of $15.1 million 
(2014: $17.2 million). 

The consolidated entity used $2.49 million (2014: $2.43 million) in its investing activities during the year. In addition,   
a research and development tax offset of $0.5 million were received during the year (2014: $0.6 million). 

 

Significant changes in the state of affairs 
Except as noted in this report, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the consolidated entity 
during the financial year. 

 

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year 
On 16 July 2015, the consolidated entity completed a share placement to sophisticated investors. The consolidated 
entity issued 25,000,000 new shares at an issue price of 8 cents per share. The total amount raised, before costs, 
was $2.0 million. 

On 16 July 2015, the consolidated entity announced a fully underwritten non-renounceable rights issue. The total 
amount to be raised, before costs, is approximately $3.60 million. 

Except as noted above, no matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated 
entity's state of affairs in future financial years. 

 Likely developments and expected results of operations 
The Consolidated Entity plans to continue the Bauxite Hills project work program, with a target of first production by 
the third quarter of 2016.  The Company also intends to continue its evaluation of additional potential bauxite projects 
in areas other than Cape York. 

The consolidated entity has completed further stages of evaluation of its two key projects in the Surat Basin. The 
consolidated entity will continue to evaluate these projects and all other tenements. However, further evaluation of 
the progress of the development of these assets will be reliant on future thermal coal market conditions and the 
planned development of key rail and port infrastructure. 

The consolidated entity is also assessing investment opportunities in other projects, including in the country of 
Myanmar. 

 

Environmental regulation 
The consolidated entity is subject to environmental regulations under laws of Queensland where it holds mining 
tenements. The directors have put in place strategies and procedures to ensure that the consolidated entity manages 
its compliance with environmental regulations. The directors are not aware of any breaches of any applicable 
environmental regulations. 
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Information on directors 

 Name:  Stephen Everett 
Title:  Independent non-executive Chairman 
Age:  62 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Engineering (Chem Eng. Honours), MAICD 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Everett has forty years management and board experience in the resources and 

construction industries and has held Chairman and non-executive director positions in 
Government Development Boards, Private, ASX listed and TSX listed companies. 

Mr Everett has also held senior executive positions included Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer of private and publicly listed companies. 

Other current 
directorships: 

  Chairman of Agrimin Limited (formerly Global Resources Corporation Limited), 
appointed April 2009. 
 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

  Chairman of IronRidge Resources Limited, appointed May 2011, resigned October 
2012; 

 Chairman of Cape Alumina Limited, appointed May 2015, resigned February 2015. 
Special responsibilities:  Member of the Audit , Risk and Remuneration committee. 

Interests in shares:  2,444,795 ordinary shares. 

Interests in options:  1,000,000 options 

 
 

  

Name:  Philip Hennessy (appointed 30 September 2014) 
Title:  Independent non-executive director 
Age:  62 

Qualifications:  Bachelor of Business 
Experience and expertise:  Philip Hennessy has over 30 years’ corporate experience, is a Chartered Accountant 

and holds a Bachelor of Business degree. Mr Hennessy has been involved with all 
aspects of corporate financing and company reconstruction across a variety of 
industries including construction, manufacturing, mining, professional services, 
agriculture and financial services. Mr Hennessy was KPMG Qld Chairman for 13 years 
prior to retiring in 2013. Mr Hennessy's knowledge and experience assists the Company 
in driving good governance, its’ financial responsibilities, cohesive and effective 
collaboration, effective processes and communications with shareholders and 
stakeholders. 

Other current 
directorships: 

  Blue Sky Alternatives Access Fund Limited, appointed 15 April 2014 

 Collection House Limited, appointed 28 August 2013 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

 None. 

Special responsibilities:  Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Remuneration committee. 
Interests in shares:  1,562,500 ordinary shares. 
Interests in options:  None. 
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Name:  George Lloyd (appointed 8 April 2015) 
Title:  Independent non-executive director 
Age:  66 

Qualifications:  Bachelor of Engineering Science (Industrial Engineering), Master of Business 
Administration 

Experience and expertise:  Mr Lloyd has over 30 years  resource industry experience including senior executive 

and board member roles of listed and unlisted companies with interests in minerals, 

energy, industry services and corporate finance. 

Prior to 2015 Mr Lloyd served as Chairman of AWR Lloyd, an Asian-based firm 

providing mergers and acquisitions, corporate strategy, industrial research, and investor 

relations advisory services to the mining and energy industries throughout Asia and 

Australia. 

Mr Lloyd holds a Bachelor of Engineering Science (Industrial Engineering) and a 

Master of Business Administration, both from the University of NSW. He is also a 

graduate of the Stanford Executive Program. Mr Lloyd is a Fellow of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors (AICD) and a Fellow of the Australasian Institute of 

Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM). 

Other current 
directorships: 

  Ausenco Limited, appointed 13 May 2005 

 Pryme Energy Limited, appointed 29 January 2008 
Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

  Cape Alumina Limited, resigned December 2014 

Special responsibilities:  None. 
Interests in shares:  759,011 ordinary shares. 
Interests in options:  None. 
 
 

 
 

Name:  Lindsay Ward 
Title:  Independent non-executive director 
Age:  48 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Applied Science (Geology), GAICD 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Ward is an experienced senior executive having worked for over 25 years in a broad 

range of industries including ports, mining, mineral processing, rail haulage, electricity 
generation, gas transmission, alternative waste treatment, transport and logistics at 
general manager, CEO, managing director, non-executive director and chairman level. 

Mr Ward is currently CEO of Palisade Asset Management with responsibility for a range 
of infrastructure assets including gas transmission pipelines, a power station, a wind 
farm, bulk liquid and gas storage facilities and alternative waste treatment plants. 

Prior to this, Mr Ward was Managing Director of Dart Mining NL (ASX:DTM) a Victorian 
based exploration and development company. 

Mr Ward holds a Bachelor of Applied Science (Geology) Honours and the Institute 
Medal, a Graduate Diploma of Business Management and a Diploma of Mining. Mr 
Ward is a Graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors (GAICD) . 

Other current 
directorships: 

 None. 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

  Dart Mining NL, appointed May 2011, resigned December 2013;  

 Cape Alumina Limited, appointed May 2014, resigned February 2015. 
Special responsibilities:  Member of Audit, Risk and Remuneration committee. 

Interests in shares:  375,000 ordinary shares. 

Interests in options:  None. 
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Name:  Dongping Wang 
Title:  Non-executive director 
Age:  54 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Coal Preparation 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Wang Dongping graduated from the China Mining University in 1981, with a Major in 

Coal Processing Technology. Mr Wang was Process Plant Manager, and later Director 
of Operations at Pingshuo Antaibao coal mine for many years; a World Bank funder 
USA – China joint venture project. Mr Wang then worked for a time in the China Coal 
Ministry.  He later became General Manager of Long-Airdox (Tianjin), where from 1997 
he was instrumental in introducing modern coal process technology from Australia to 
China. Mr Wang became General Manager of Schenck (Tianjin) and worked there until 
2007.   

He then helped establish the Dadi Engineering Group, now China’s largest coal 
industry engineering group. Mr Wang is now Chairman of Dadi Engineering 
Development Group.  Mr Wang Dongping has worked at the highest level within the 
Chinese coal industry for 30 years and is a highly renowned coal processing expert, 
and a prominent figure in the Chinese coal industry.  Mr Wang brings extensive 
Management experience and an intimate knowledge of modern coal process 
technology to Metro Mining. 

Other current 
directorships: 

  Dadi Engineering Development Group, appointed January 2010. 
 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

 None. 

Special responsibilities:  None. 

Interests in shares:  None. 

Interests in options:  500,000 options 

 
 

  

Name:  Jijun Liu (appointed 12 January 2015) 
Title:  Non-executive director 
Age:  50 
Qualifications:   
Experience and expertise:  Mr Jijun Liu is the Managing Director of the China Xinfa Group Corporation Limited 

which controls one of the largest alumina-aluminium enterprises in China. Mr Liu is also 
a member of various government committees. He studied thermal power plant 
engineering at Shandong Power Junior College. 

Mr Jijun Liu is an employee of China Xinfa Group Corporation Limited which (together 
with associated entities) holds 22,571,507 Ordinary Shares in Metro Mining Limited. 

Other current 
directorships: 

 None. 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

 Cape Alumina Limited, resigned January 2015. 

Special responsibilities:  None. 

Interests in shares:  None. 

Interests in options:  None. 
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Name:  Xiaoming Yuan (appointed 1 December 2014) 
Title:  Alternate director for Dongping Wang 
Age:  43 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Mining Engineering 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Xiaoming is General Manager of International Business and Managing Director of 

Dadi Australia and Chairman of Aury Australia. As the representative of the Dadi 
Engineering Development Group Mr Xiaoming delivers support and assistance to the 
Board and company from the major shareholder.  

Mr Xiaoming Yuan is a graduate of Mining Engineering from China University of Mining 
& Technology (CUMT) with over 20 years experience in the roles of mining engineer, 
business development, project management and corporate management for mining, 
construction and equipment manufacturing companies both in China and 
internationally. 

Other current 
directorships: 

 None. 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

 None. 

Special responsibilities:  None. 

Interests in shares:  None. 

Interests in options:  None. 

 
 

  

Name:  Ken Xiao (appointed 12 January 2015) 
Title:  Alternate director for Jijun Liu 
Age:  46 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Science, Bachelor of Engineering, Master of Information Technology 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Xiao holds a Bachelor of Science majoring in Computing and a Bachelor of 

Engineering in Computer from the University of Newcastle. He is also holds a Master of 
Information Technology from QUT. 

Mr Xiao is consultant to China Xinfa Group Corporation Limited which (together with 
associated entities) holds 22,571,507 Ordinary Shares in Metro Mining Limited. 

Other current 
directorships: 

 None. 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

 Cape Alumina Limited Alternate Director, resigned January 2015. 

Special responsibilities:  None. 

Interests in shares:  None. 

Interests in options:  None. 
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Name:  Andrew Gillies (resigned 30 September 2014) 
Title:  Non-executive director 
Age:  52 

Qualifications:  Bachelor of Science (Geology), MAusIMM. 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Gillies is a founding director of Metro Mining Limited. He has been instrumental in 

the selection and acquisition of all the mineral assets now held by the Metallica group, 
Cape Alumina Limited and Metro Mining Limited. Mr Gillies’ key strength is mineral 
resource management and strategic planning specialising in project generation, 
selection and acquisition. He has acquired a considerable database and significant 
knowledge of mineral deposits in Queensland.  

Since 1985 he has worked continuously as a geologist in the mining and exploration 
industry, accruing over 27 years experience across a range of commodities.. Over the 
last 27 years he gained valuable experience in the exploration, feasibility, development, 
open pit and underground mining of mineral deposits. 

Other current 
directorships: 

  Metallica Minerals Limited, appointed 15 January 1997. 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

  Cape Alumina Limited, appointed February 2004, resigned November 2011; 

 Planet Metals Limited, appointed June 2009, resigned July 2012; and 

 Orion Metals Limited, appointed November 2009, resigned August 2012. 
Special responsibilities:  None. 
Interests in shares:  None. 
Interests in options:  None. 
 
 
Name:  John Haley (resigned 30 September 2014) 
Title:  Alternate director for Andrew Gillies 
Age:  52 
Qualifications:  Bachelor of Commerce, MBA, GradCert (Marketing), Grad Dip CSP, FCA, FTIA. 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Haley brings over thirty years of senior corporate experience from positions in 

Canada and Australia to the board of Metro Mining. He has a diverse career in a range 
of industries including mineral exploration and has participated as a seed capitalist in a 
number of mineral exploration companies. 

With extensive experience in the preparation of prospectuses, he has had significant 
involvement in the listing of companies in Australia and Canada. He has previously 
worked with Coopers & Lybrand and Arthur Andersen & Co and in Australia in general 
management, financial reporting and company secretarial positions.   

Other current 
directorships: 

 None. 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

  Cape Alumina Limited, appointed February 2012 as the alternate director for 
Andrew Gillies, retired November 2011; and 

 Metallica Minerals Limited, appointed December 2003, resigned November 2013. 
Special responsibilities:  None. 
Interests in shares:  None. 
Interests in options:  None. 
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Name:  Robert Finch (resigned 1 December 2014) 
Title:  Alternate director for Dongping Wang 
Age:  60 
Qualifications:  N/A 
Experience and expertise:  Mr Robert Finch brings more than 25 years of Management experience to Metro 

Mining, including over 18 years in the Australian and Chinese coal industries.  He has 
worked in Australia and throughout Asia for over 23 years. Robert has a strong 
association and sound knowledge of Chinese business culture, and both the Australian 
and Chinese Coal industries.  Robert was instrumental in pioneering modern coal 
process technology into China and he worked in China for 4 years up to mid 2006 as 
Managing Director of Schenck Tianjin, a major process equipment manufacturing 
company.  

In 2008 he established and is Managing Director of Aury Australia, a coal process 
equipment manufacturing company based in Queensland, which supplies process 
equipment to the Australian and overseas coal and minerals industries. Robert offers 
both Australian and Chinese coal industry experience and Management skills to Metro 
Mining. 

Other current 
directorships: 

 None. 

Former directorships (in 
the last 3 years): 

 None. 

Special responsibilities:  None. 

Interests in shares:  None. 

Interests in options:  None. 

 ‘Other current directorships' quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes directorships 
in all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated. 

 'Former directorships (in the last 3 years)' quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities 
only and excludes directorships in all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated. 

 Company Secretary 
Mt Scott Waddell was appointed as Company Secretary on 19 May 2014. 

Prior to joining Metro Mining, Scott was Head of Finance for the Monash Energy project in Victoria’s La Trobe valley. 
 
Scott's resources experience was gained over nine years with Anglo Coal and eight years with Rio Tinto Alcan (RTA) 
in a wide variety of senior roles across multiple sites. Scott has a deep understanding of the global bauxite, alumina 
and resources sectors. 
 
Scott holds a Bachelor of Business from the Queensland University of Technology and is a Fellow of the Certified 
Practicing Accountants and an Associate Member of the Governance Institute of Australia. Scott has also completed 
numerous post graduate courses including a Graduate Diploma in Applied Corporate Governance, Company 
Directors Course with the Australian Institute of Company Directors (AICD), and Post Graduate Diploma of 
Purchasing and Materials Management with the RMIT. 
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Meetings of directors 

The number of meetings of the Company's board of directors and of each board committee held during the 
year ended 30 June 2015, and the number of meetings attended by each director were: 

 

  
Full Board 

 

Audit and Risk 
And Remuneration 

Committee (vii) 
 

  
Attended 

 
Held 

 
Attended 

 
Held 

 Mr S Everett 
 

16  17  1  1  

Mr P Hennessy (i)  12  12  1  1  

Mr G Lloyd (ii)  2  3  -  -  

Mr L Ward  16  17  1  1  

Mr D Wang  -  17  -  -  

Mr J Liu (iii)  -  6  -  -  

Mr X Yuan (alternate) (iv) 
 

7  7  -  -  

Mr K Xiao (alternate) (iii) 
 

3  6  -  -  

Mr A Gillies (v)  4  5  -  -  

Mr J Haley (alternate) (v)  1  1  -  -  

Mr R Finch (alternate) (vi)  9  10  -  -  
 

(i) Appointed 30 September 2014 
(ii) Appointed 8 April 2015 
(iii) Appointed 12 January 2015 
(iv) Appointed 1 December 2014 
(v) Resigned 30 September 2014 
(vi) Resigned 1 December 2014 
(vii) The Audit, Risk and Remuneration Committee was established in April 2015. 

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the 
relevant committee. 

 
Remuneration report (audited) 
 
The remuneration report, which has been audited, outlines the director and executive remuneration 
arrangements for the consolidated entity and the Company, in accordance with the requirements of the 
Corporations Act 2001 and its Regulations. 

 The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 

A 
 

Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

B 
 

Details of remuneration 

C 
 

Service agreements 

D 
 

Share-based compensation 

E  Cash bonuses 

F 
 

Additional information 
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A     Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration 

 The Company’s policy for determining the nature and amount of emoluments of key management personnel, 
including board members and other key management personnel of the Company is set out below. 

 
The remuneration structure for key management personnel, excluding non-executive directors, is set by the board of 
Directors and is based on a number of factors including, market remuneration for comparable companies, particular 
experience of the individual concerned and overall performance of the Company.  The contracts for service between 
the Company and key management personnel are on a continuing basis the terms of which are not expected to 
change in the immediate future.  The consolidated entity retains the right to terminate contracts immediately by 
making payment as allowed under the termination provisions provided in their contact of employment.  Upon 
retirement or termination key management personnel, excluding non-executives, are paid employee benefits accrued 
to date of retirement or termination. No other termination benefits are payable under service contracts.  Any options 
issued which are not exercised on or before the date of termination lapse 3 months after termination.  Unless 
otherwise stated, service agreements do not provide for pre-determined compensation values or the manner of 
payment.  Compensation is determined in accordance with the general remuneration policy.  The manner of payment 
is determined on a case by case basis and is generally a mix of cash and non-cash benefits as considered 
appropriate by the board of directors. 

 
The objective of the consolidated entity's and Company's executive reward framework is to ensure reward for 
performance is competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with the 
achievement of strategic objectives and the creation of value for shareholders, and conforms with the market best 
practice for delivery of reward. The board of directors ('the board') ensures that executive reward satisfies the 
following key criteria for good reward governance practices: 
 

 competitiveness and reasonableness; 

 acceptability to shareholders; and 

 transparency. 

 
The board is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for its directors and executives. 
The performance of the consolidated entity and Company depends on the quality of its directors and executives. The 
remuneration philosophy is to attract, motivate and retain high performance and high quality personnel. 

 
The board has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the 
reward strategy of the organisation. 

 

Alignment to shareholders' interests: 

 focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share price, and 
delivering constant or increasing return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-financial drivers 
of value; and 

 attracts and retains high calibre executives. 

 

Alignment to program participants' interests: 

 rewards capability and experience; 

 reflects competitive rates of remuneration in respect of skills and responsibility; 

 provides a clear structure for earning rewards; and 

 providing recognition for contribution. 

 

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive directors and executive 
remunerations are separate. 

 
Non-executive directors remuneration 
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, 
the directors. Non-executive directors' fees and payments are reviewed annually by the board. The board has also 
agreed where necessary to the advice of independent remuneration consultants to ensure non-executive directors' 
fees and payments are appropriate and in line with the market. The Chairman's fees are determined independently 
to the fees of other non-executive directors based on comparative roles in the external market. 
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ASX listing rules requires that the aggregate non-executive directors’ remuneration shall be determined periodically 
by a general meeting. The most recent determination was at the Annual General Meeting held on 18 November 
2010, where the shareholders approved an aggregate remuneration of $350,000. 

 

Executive remuneration 
The consolidated entity and Company aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration based on their 
position and responsibility, which is both fixed and variable. 

 

The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components: 

 base pay and non-monetary benefits; 

 share-based payments;  

 cash bonuses; and 

 other remuneration such as superannuation and long service leave. 

 

The combination of these comprises the executive's total remuneration. 

 
Fixed remuneration, consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary benefits, are reviewed annually by 
the board, based on individual and business unit performance, the overall performance of the consolidated entity and 
comparable market remunerations. 

 
Executives can receive their fixed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe benefits (for example motor 
vehicle benefits) where it does not create any additional costs to the consolidated entity and adds additional value to 
the executive. As the consolidated entity is in exploration and not production, there is no direct relationship between 
the Company’s financial performance and the level of remuneration paid to key management personnel. 

 
Short-term incentives (‘STI’) includes cash bonuses. No cash bonuses were paid during the year. Long-term 
incentives (‘LTI’) include long service leave and share-based payments. The Company has established the Metro 
Mining Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) to enable the issue of shares or options in the Company to employees 
of the Company to assist in the retention and motivation of employees. Under the ESOP, the Company may offer 
shares or options over unissued shares in the Company. Shares are awarded to executives generally over a period 
of three years based on long-term incentive measures. These LTI's include specific goals that have been given a 
high level of importance in relation to the future growth of the group. Performance conditions generally include 
progressing the Company’s projects toward production, and funding the Company by disposals of non-core assets 
either by sale or otherwise on satisfactory terms.   

 
Consolidated entity performance and link to remuneration 
 
Given that the remuneration is commercially reasonable, the link between remuneration, Company performance and 
shareholder wealth generation is tenuous, particularly in the exploration and development stage of a minerals 
company. Share prices are subject to the influence of international metal and coal prices and market sentiment 
towards the sector and increases or decreases may occur independently of executive performance or remuneration.  
The Company may issue options to provide an incentive for key management personnel which, it is believed, is in 
line with industry standards and practice and is also believed to align the interests of key management personnel with 
those of the Company’s shareholders. 

 
Unless otherwise stated, service agreements do not provide for pre-determined compensation values or the manner 
of payment.  Compensation is determined in accordance with the general remuneration policy. The manner of 
payment is determined on a case by case basis and is generally a mix of cash and non-cash benefits as determined 
by the board of directors. 

 
Except in so far as directors and key management personnel hold options over shares in the Company, there is no 
relationship between remuneration policy and the Company’s performance. The majority of bonus and incentive 
payments are at the discretion of the board. 

 
At the end of the year, the board of directors compare the actual performance of the executives and executive 
directors against the performance conditions set by the board of directors for that individual and assess whether or 
not the conditions have been met.  This method of assessment was chosen as it provides the board of directors with 
an objective assessment of the individual’s performance. 
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The board of directors will review the performance conditions to gauge their effectiveness against achievement of the 
set goals, and adjust future year’s incentives as they see fit, to ensure use of the most cost effective and efficient 
methods.  
 
The Company has not used a remuneration consultant during the year. 

 

B     Details of remuneration 

 

Amounts of remuneration 
Details of the remuneration of directors, other key management personnel (defined as those who have the authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the consolidated entity) of Metro Mining 
Limited are set out in the following tables. 

 
The key management personnel of the consolidated entity consists of the directors of Metro Mining Limited and 
executives for the period of their tenure as outlined below: 

  Mr Stephen Everett – Independent Chairman  

 Mr Philip Hennessy – Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 30 September 2014) 

 Mr George Lloyd – Independent Non-Executive Director (appointed 8 April 2015) 

 Mr Lindsay Ward – Independent Non-Executive Director 

 Mr Dongping Wang – Non-Executive Director 

 Mr Jijun Liu – Non-Executive Director (appointed 12 January 2015) 

 Mr Xiaoming Yuan – Alternate Director for Dongping Wang (appointed 1 December 2014) 

 Mr Ken Xiao – Alternate Director for Jijun Liu (appointed 12 January 2015) 

 Mr Andrew L Gillies – Non-Executive Director (resigned 30 September 2014) 

 Mr John K Haley – Alternate director for Mr A Gillies (resigned 30 September 2014) 

 Mr Robert Finch – Alternate Director for Dongping Wang (resigned 1 December 2014) 

 Mr Simon Finnis – Chief Executive Officer (appointed 12 January 2015) 

 Mr Mike O'Brien – Chief Executive Officer (resigned 12 January 2015 but remains working as a contractor) 

 Mr Scott Waddell – Chief Financial Officer  and Company Secretary 
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Short-term benefits 

Post 
employment 

benefits 
Long-term 

benefits 

Share-
based 

payments 
 

 

Cash salary 
and fees Bonus 

Non-
monetary 

Super-
annuation 

Long service 
leave 

Equity-
settled Total 

2015 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 
Non-Executive Directors: 

      Mr S Everett 82,800 - - - - - 82,800 
Mr P Hennessy 
(i) 33,105 - 

- 
3,145 - 

- 
36,250 

Mr G Lloyd (ii) 11,250 - - - - - 11,250 

Mr L Ward 52,339 - - 4,319 - - 56,658 

Mr D Wang 22,500 - - - - - 22,500 

Mr J Liu (iii) 22,500 - - - - - 22,500 

Mr X Yuan (iv) 13,125 - - - - - 13,125 

Mr K Xiao (iii) - - - - - - - 

Mr A Gillies (v) 6,935 - - 659 - - 7,594 

Mr J Haley (v) 6,812 - - 220 - - 7,032 

Mr R Finch (vi) 9,426 - - 878 - - 10,304 

 
       

Other Key Management Personnel:      

Mr S Finnis (vii) 130,450 - - - - 35,977 166,427 
Mr M O'Brien 
(viii) 384,035 - - 35,000 - 29,981 449,016 

Mr S Waddell(ix) 254,092 - - 24,139 - 29,981 308,212 

 
1,029,369 - - 68,360 - 95,939 1,193,668 

        (i) Appointed 30 September 2014 
(ii) Appointed 8 April 2015 
(iii) Appointed 12 January 2015 
(iv) Appointed 1 December 2014 
(v) Resigned 30 September 2014 
(vi) Resigned 1 December 2014 
(vii) Appointed 12 January 2015 
(viii) Resigned 12 January 2015 but remains working as a contractor 
(ix) Additional compensation of $30,000 was paid to Mr Waddell during the period he was acting CEO of Cape 

Alumina for the additional responsibilities assumed during that period. 

 
2014        
Non-Executive Directors: 

      Mr S Everett 90,400 - - - - - 90,400 

Mr A Gillies 24,971 - - 2,309 - - 27,280 

Mr M Hansel (i) 51,216 - - - - - 51,216 

Mr L Ward 50,869 - - 4,705 - - 55,574 

Mr D Wang 22,500 - - - - - 22,500 

Mr J Haley 27,638 - - 1,405 - - 29,043 

Mr R Finch 20,080 - - 1,857 - - 21,937 

 
       

Other Key Management Personnel:      

Mr M O'Brien 300,229 - - 27,771 - - 328,000 

Mr T Psaros (ii) 142,008 - - 20,811 - - 162,819 

Mr N Mackenzie- 
Forbes (iii) 87,704 - - 7,568 - - 95,272 

Mr N Villa (vi) 176,321 - - 16,310 - - 192,631 

Mr E Radley (iv) 67,894 - - 8,882 - - 76,776 

Mr S Waddell (v) 8,483 - - - - - 8,483 

 
1,070,313 - - 91,618 - - 1,161,931 
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         (i) Resigned 1 April 2014 
(ii) Resigned 30 November 2013 
(iii) Resigned 30 September 2013 
(iv) Resigned 31 October 2013 
(v) Appointed 19 May 2014 
(vi) Not considered key management personnel for 30 June 2015 financial year 

  

The proportion of remuneration linked to performance and the fixed proportion are as follows: 

 

  
Fixed remuneration 

 
At risk - STI 

 
At risk - LTI 

Name 
 

2015 
 

2014 
 

2015 
 

2014 
 

2015 
 

2014 

             Non-Executive Directors: 
            Mr S Everett  100%  100%  -  -  -  - 

Mr P Hennessy  100%  N/A  -  N/A  -  N/A 

Mr G Lloyd  100%  N/A  -  N/A  -  N/A 

Mr L Ward  100%  100%  -  -  -  - 

Mr D Wang  100%  100%  -  -  -  - 

Mr J Liu  100%  N/A  -  N/A  -  N/A 

Mr X Yuan  100%  N/A  -  N/A  -  N/A 

Mr K Xiao  100%  N/A  -  N/A  -  N/A 

Mr A Gilles 
 

100% 
 

100% 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 

Mr J Haley  100%  100%  -  -  -  - 

Mr R Finch  100%  100%  -  -  -  - 

Mr M Hansel 
 

N/A 
 

100% 
 

N/A 
 

- 
 

N/A 
 

- 

             

Other Key Management 
Personnel: 

 
 

   
 

   
 

  Mr S Finnis  78%  N/A  -  N/A  22%  N/A 

Mr M O'Brien 
 

93% 
 

100% 
 

- 

 
- 

 
7% 

 
- 

Mr N Villa  N/A  100%  N/A  -  N/A  - 

Mr S Waddell  90.3%  100%  -  -  9.7%  - 

Mr T Psaros 
 

N/A 

 

100% 

 

N/A 

 

- 

 

N/A 

 

- 

Mr N Mackenzie- Forbes 
 

N/A 

 

100% 

 

N/A 

 

- 

 

N/A 

 

- 

Mr E Radley 
 

N/A 

 

100% 

 

N/A 

 

- 

 

N/A 

 

- 
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C     Service agreements 

 Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel, other than directors, are formalised in 
service agreements. Details of these agreements are as follows: 

 Name:  Mr Simon Finnis, employed through contract arrangement (appointed 12 January 2015) 
Title:  Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 
Agreement commenced:  12 January 2015 
Term of agreement:  The agreement can be terminated by either party giving three (3) months notice. 
Details: 

 

The key terms of this agreement are as follows: 
(a) The term is ongoing whilst Mr Finnis is Chief Executive Officer; 
(b) Annual service fee of $275,004, and is subject to annual review by the board; 
(c) Annual bonus of up to 35% of annual service fee based on agreed KPI’s:- 

 Environmental Approval for the Bauxite Hills project (25% of bonus). 

 Native Title agreement for the Bauxite Hills project (25% of bonus). 

 Share price or Market Cap increase of over 100% (25% of bonus). 

 Successful fund raising of over $2milion (25% of bonus). 
 
The bonus is to be paid as 50% cash and 50% as performance rights or options.  

 
   
Name: 

 
Mr Scott Waddell  

Title: 

 
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary  

Term of agreement:  The agreement can be terminated by either party giving three (3) months notice. 
Details: 

 

The key terms of this agreement are as follows: 
(a) The term is ongoing whilst Mr Waddell is Chief Financial Officer; 
(b) Base remuneration is $245,381 per annum, including superannuation, and is 

subject to annual review by the board; 
(c) Mr Waddell is also entitled to participate in Metro Mining Limited Employee Share 

Option Scheme, subject to the approval of the board of directors of the Company. 
   
Name: 

 
Mr Mike O'Brien, employed through contract arrangement 

Title: 

 
Project Director 

Agreement commenced: 

 

Formerly CEO 27 October 2009, Resigned 12 January 2015 but remains working as a 
contractor 

Term of agreement:  The agreement can be terminated by either party giving 14 days notice. 
Details: 

 

The key terms of this agreement are as follows: 
(a) Term 12 months. 
(b) The base remuneration is $1,500 per day, based on a 4 day week 

 

 Key management personnel have no entitlement to termination payments in the event of removal for misconduct. 
 
 

D     Share-based compensation 

 Issue of shares 

There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the 
year ended 30 June 2015. 

 
No shares were issued to directors and other key management personnel on the exercise of options during the year 
ended 30 June 2015. 

 

Options 

The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in this financial year or future reporting 
years are as follows: 
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Fair value 

  
Vesting date and 

     
per option 

Grant date 
 

exercisable date 
 

Expiry date 
 
Exercise price 

 
at grant date 

12/01/2015 
 

12/01/2015 
 

11/01/2017 
 

$0.06 
 

$0.01 

         Options granted carry no dividend or voting rights. No amounts were paid by the recipients on grant of options. 

 E     Cash bonuses 

 

No cash bonuses were paid or granted during the year. 

   
F     Equity instruments held by key management personnel 

 

Shareholdings 

 

The number of shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and other members of key 
management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below: 

            

   
Balance at 

 
Received 

     
Balance at 

   
the start of 

 
as part of 

   
Disposals/ 

 
the end of 

2015 
  

the year 
 
remuneration 

 
Additions 

 
other 

 
the year 

Ordinary shares 
           Mr S Everett   101,045  -  2,343,750 - -  2,444,795 

Mr P Hennessy (i)   -  -  1,562,500  -  1,562,500 

Mr G Lloyd (ii)   -  -  759,011  -  759,011 

Mr L Ward   -  -  375,000  -  375,000 

Mr D Wang   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr J Liu (iii)   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr X Yuan (iv)   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr K Xiao (iii)   -  -  45,052  -  45,052 

Mr A Gillies (v) 
  

470,000 
 

-  -  (470,000)  - 

Mr J Haley  (v)   120,000  -  -  (120,000)  - 

Mr R Finch (vi)   299,000  -  -  (299,000)  - 

Mr S Finnis (iii)   - 
 

-  740,000  -  740,000 

Mr M O’Brien (vii) 
  

258,204 
 

-  806,152  -  1,064,356 

Mr N Villa (viii) 
  

- 
 

-  -  -  - 

Mr S Waddell 
  

- 
 

-  276,923  -  276,923 

   
1,248,249 

 
-  6,908,388  (889,000)  7,267,637 

(i) Appointed 30 September 2014 
(ii) Appointed 8 April 2015 
(iii) Appointed 12 January 2015 
(iv) Appointed 1 December 2014 
(v) Resigned 30 September 2014 
(vi) Resigned 1 December 2014 
(vii) Resigned 12 January 2015 but remains working as a contractor 
(viii) Not considered key management personnel for 30 June 2015 financial year 

  

No shares were received during the year on exercise of options (2014: nil). 
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Option holdings 

 
The number of options over ordinary shares in the parent entity held during the financial year by each director and 
other members of key management personnel of the consolidated entity, including their personally related parties, is 
set out below: 

   Balance at      Expired/  Balance at 

2015   the start of      forfeited/  the end of 

Options over ordinary shares  the year  Granted  Exercised  other  the year 

Mr S Everett   1,000,000  -  -  -  1,000,000 

Mr P Hennessy (i)   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr G Lloyd (ii)   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr L Ward   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr D Wang   500,000  -  -  -  500,000 

Mr J Liu (iii)   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr X Yuan (iv)   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr K Xiao (iii)   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr A Gillies (v) 
  

-  -  -  -  - 

Mr J Haley  (v)   -  -  -  -  - 

Mr R Finch (vi)   500,000  -  -  (500,000)  - 

Mr S Finnis (iii)   -  3,000,000  -  -  3,000,000 

Mr M O’Brien (vii) 
  

-  2,500,000  -  -  2,500,000 

Mr S Waddell 
  

-  2,500,000  -  -  2,500,000 

   
2,000,000  8,000,000  -  (500,000)  9,500,000 

(i) Appointed 30 September 2014 
(ii) Appointed 8 April 2015 
(iii) Appointed 12 January 2015 
(iv) Appointed 1 December 2014 
(v) Resigned 30 September 2014 
(vi) Resigned 1 December 2014 
(vii) Resigned 12 January 2015 but remains working as a contractor 

   
G     Additional information 

 There were no dividends paid or returns of capital by the consolidated entity. The Company commenced operations 
in the 30 June 2008 financial year. 

 The earnings of the consolidated entity for the five years to 30 June 2015 are summarised below: 

 

  
2015 

 
2014 

 
2013 

 
2012 

 
2011 

  
$ 

 
$ 

 
$ 

 
$ 

 
$ 

Revenue 
 

761,554 
 

712,711 
 

1,052,206 
 

1,058,264 
 

899,913  

Net profit/(loss) after tax 
 

(2,773,292) 
 
(15,694,963) 

 
(735,086) 

 
(10,854,933) 

 
(2,432,614) 

  
 

     
 

  The factors that are considered to affect total shareholders return (TSR) are summarised below: 

 

  
2015 

 
2014 

 
2013 

 
2012 

 
2011 

Share price at financial year end ($A) * 
 

0.06 
 

0.03 
 

0.05 
 

0.23 
 

0.59  

Basic loss per share (cents per share) 
 

(1.07) 
 

(7.45) 
 

(0.35) 
 

(5.53) 
 

(1.48)  

            

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited. 
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 Shares under option 

Unissued ordinary shares of Metro Mining Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows: 

 

  
Exercise 

 
Number  

Grant date Expiry date price 
 
under option  

  
 

  

 

20/11/2012 11/07/2015 $0.235  1,000,000  

20/11/2012 11/07/2015 $0.50  500,000  

12/01/2015 11/01/2017 $0.06  10,750,000  

     

 

Shares issued on the exercise of options 

No shares of Metro Mining Limited were issued on the exercise of options during the year ended 30 June 2015. 

 Indemnity and insurance of officers 

Each of the directors and the secretary of the Company have entered into a Deed with the Company whereby the 
Company has provided certain contractual rights of access to books and records of the Company to those directors 
and secretary. The Company has insured all of the directors and officers of Metro Mining Limited. The contract of 
insurance prohibits the disclosure of the nature of the liabilities covered and amount of the premium paid. The 
Corporations Act 2001 does not require disclosure of the information in these circumstances. 

 

Indemnity and insurance of auditor 

Other than the standard indemnities, the Company has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, indemnified 
or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor. 

 During the financial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the 
Company or any related entity. 

 Proceedings on behalf of the Company 

No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings on 
behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of taking 
responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings. 

 Non-audit services 

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the financial year by the 
auditor are outlined in note 21 to the financial statements. 

 The directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services during the financial year, by the auditor (or by 
another person or firm on the auditor's behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

  





 

 

Level 10, 12 Creek St  

Brisbane QLD 4000 

GPO Box 457 Brisbane QLD 4001 

Australia 

 

Tel: +61 7 3237 5999 

Fax: +61 7 3221 9227 

www.bdo.com.au 

 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd ABN 33 134 022 870 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 77 050 
110 275, an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited 

by guarantee, and form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional 
Standards Legislation, other than for the acts or omissions of financial services licensees. 
 

 

 

 

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY A J WHYTE TO DIRECTORS OF METRO MINING LIMITED 

 

As lead auditor of Metro Mining Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015, I declare that, to the best of 

my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

 

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in 

relation to the audit; and 

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

This declaration is in respect of Metro Mining Limited and the entities it controlled during the year. 

 

 

 

 

 

A J Whyte 

Director 

 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

 

Brisbane: 25 August 2015 
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 General information 

 The financial report covers Metro Mining Limited as a consolidated entity consisting of Metro Mining Limited and 
the entities it controlled. The financial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is Metro Mining Limited's 
functional and presentation currency. 

 The financial report consists of the financial statements, notes to the financial statements and the directors' 
declaration. 

 Metro Mining Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its 
registered office and principal place of business is: 

 

 
Level 8, 300 Adelaide Street  

 

 
Brisbane QLD 4000 

 

 A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities are included in the 
directors' report, which is not part of the financial report. 

 The financial report was authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 25 August 2015. 
The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial report. 
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Consolidated 

 
Note 2015 

 
2014 

  
$ 

 
$ 

  
 
  Other income 4 473,518  439,246 

  
 
  Expenses 

 
 
  Occupancy expenses 

 
(138,763) 

 
(111,220) 

Employee benefits expense 5 (1,209,406) 
 

(855,133) 

Depreciation  12 (45,199) 
 

(49,070) 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 13 - 
 
(13,701,736) 

Impairment of investment in listed entity 10 -  (900,000) 

Other expenses 5 (2,141,478) 
 

(790,515) 

Results from operating activities 
 

(3,061,328) 
 
(15,968,428) 

     

Finance income  288,036  273,465 

     

Loss before income tax benefit from continuing operations 
 

(2,773,292) 
 
(15,694,963) 

  
 
  Income tax benefit  6 - 
 

- 

  
 
  Loss after income tax benefit for the year  

 
(2,773,292) 

 
(15,694,963) 

  
 
  Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 

 
- 

 
- 

  
 
  Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  (2,773,292)  (15,694,963) 

     

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:     

Owners of the Company  (2,488,090)  (15,563,381) 

Non-controlling interests  (285,202)  (131,582) 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
 

(2,773,292) 
 
(15,694,963) 

     

  
Cents 

 
Cents 

     Basic earnings per share 19 (1.07) 
 

(7.45) 

Diluted earnings per share 19 (1.07) 
 

(7.45) 
 
 
The above statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated 

 
Note 2015 

 
2014 

Assets 
 

$ 
 

$ 

Current assets 
    Cash and cash equivalents 7 3,116,546 

 
7,522,249 

Trade and other receivables 8 127,570 
 

82,111 

Other assets 
 

2,289 
 

4,903 

Total current assets 
 

3,246,405 
 

7,609,263 

  
 

  Non-current assets 
 

 
  Property, plant and equipment 11 25,180 
 

72,053 

Exploration and evaluation assets 13 11,992,694 
 

9,472,006 

Other assets 9 91,424  465,781 

Total non-current assets 
 

12,109,298 
 

10,009,840 

  
 

  Total assets 
 

15,355,703 
 

17,619,103 

  
 

  Liabilities 
 

 
  Current liabilities 

 
 

  Trade and other payables 14 727,500 
 

299,864 

Employee benefits 15 43,128 
 

89,791 

Total current liabilities 
 

770,628 
 

389,655 

  
 

  Total liabilities 
 

770,628 
 

389,655 

  
 

  Net assets 
 

14,585,075 
 

17,229,448 

  
 

  Equity 
 

 
  Contributed equity 16 47,491,109 
 

45,149,187 

Reserves 17 3,670,027 
 

5,586,507 

Accumulated losses 
 

(36,576,061) 
 

(34,087,971) 

     

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company  14,585,075  16,647,723 

     

Non-controlling interests  -  581,725 

  
 

  Total equity 
 

14,585,075 
 

17,229,448 

      
 
The above statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Contributed 
equity 

Options 
reserves 

Change in 
interest of 
subsidiary 

reserve 
Accumulated 

losses 
Controlling 

Interest 

Non-
controlling 

interest Total equity 

Consolidated 
 

$ 
 

$ $ $ $ 
 

$ $ $ 

Balance at 1 July 2013 
 

45,149,187 
 

5,586,507 - 
 

(18,524,590) 
 

32,211,104 - 32,211,104 

Profit/(Loss) after income tax expense for the year  -  - -  (15,563,381)  (15,563,381) 
 

(131,582) 
 

(15,694,963) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 
 

-  - -  -  - 
 

- 
 

- 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
 

-  - -  (15,563,381)  (15,563,381) 
 

(131,582) 
 

(15,694,963) 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:            

Acquisition of subsidiary 
 

-  - -  -  - 713,307 713,307 

Balance at 30 June 2014 
 

45,149,187  5,586,507 -  (34,087,971)  16,647,723 
 

581,725 
 

17,229,448 

     
 
    

  

Balance at 1 July 2014 
 

45,149,187 
 

5,586,507 - 
 

(34,087,971) 
 

16,647,723 
 

581,725 
 

17,229,448 

Profit/(Loss) after income tax expense for the year 
 

-  - -  (2,488,090)  (2,488,090) 
 

(285,202) 
 

(2,773,292) 

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 
 

-  - -  -  - 
 

- 
 

- 

Total comprehensive income for the year 
 

-  - -  (2,488,090)  (2,488,090) 
 

(285,202) 
 

(2,773,292) 
Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners: 

 
   

 
      

Share based payments  -  128,919 -  -  128,919 - 128,919 

Increasing interest in subsidiary 
 

2,341,922  - (2,045,399)  -  296,523 (296,523) - 

Balance at 30 June 2015 
 

47,491,109  5,715,426 (2,045,399)  (36,576,061)  14,585,075 
 

- 
 

14,585,075 

     

 

    

  

 
The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated 

 
Note 2015 

 
2014 

  
$ 

 
$ 

Cash flows from operating activities 
    Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST) 
 

432,025 
 

465,806 

Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST) 
 

(3,510,128) 
 
(2,518,622) 

Interest received 
 

284,346 
 

323,743 

  
 

  Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 20 (2,793,757) 
 
(1,729,073) 

  
 

  Cash flows from investing activities 
 

 
  Payments for property, plant and equipment  (22,850) 
 

(8,999) 

Payments for exploration and evaluation  (2,493,273) 
 
(2,435,222) 

Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired  -  933,674 

Payment for investments 
 

- 
 
(1,000,000) 

Proceeds from term deposits  377,086  - 

Research and development tax refund received  527,091  633,899 

  
 

  Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities 
 

(1,611,946) 
 
(1,876,648) 

  
 

  Cash flows from financing activities 
 

 
  Proceeds from issue of shares 

 
- 

 
- 

Share issue transaction costs 
 

- 
 

- 

  
 

  Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities 
 

- 
 

- 

  
 

  Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
 

(4,405,703) 
 
(3,605,721) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 
 

7,522,249 
 
11,127,970 

  
 

  Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 7 3,116,546 
 

7,522,249 

     

  
The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Note 1.  Significant accounting policies 

 The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

 Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') and the Corporations Act 2001. 
These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board ('IASB'). 
 
The consolidated entity is a for-profit entity for the purposes of preparing these financial statements. 

 Historical cost convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for the revaluation of 
selected non-current assets, and financial assets and financial liabilities for which the fair value basis of accounting 
has been applied. 

 Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the consolidated entity's accounting policies. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant 
to the financial statements, are disclosed in note 2. 

 Parent entity information 

In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the consolidated entity 
only. Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in note 30. 

 Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Metro Mining Limited 
('Company' or 'parent entity') as at 30 June 2015 and the results of all subsidiaries and special purpose entities for the 
year then ended. Metro Mining Limited, its subsidiaries and special purpose entities together are referred to in these 
financial statements as the 'consolidated entity'. 

 Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has control. The consolidated entity has control 
over an entity when the consolidated entity is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity, and has the ability to use its power to affect those returns. The effects of potential exercisable voting rights 
are considered when assessing whether control exists. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 

 Special purpose entities ('SPEs') are those entities where the consolidated entity, in substance, controls the SPE so as 
to obtain the majority of benefits without having any ownership interest. 

 Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the consolidated entity 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of 
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries and special purpose entities have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the consolidated entity. 
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Note 1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Refer to the 'business 
combinations' accounting policy for further details. A change in ownership interest, without the loss of control, is 
accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred and the book value 
of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent. 

 
Where the consolidated entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill, liabilities 
and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. 
The consolidated entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment 
retained together with any gain or loss in profit or loss. 

 Operating segments 
Operating segments are presented using the 'management approach', where the information presented is on the same 
basis as the internal reports provided to the chief operating decision makers ('CODM'). The CODM is responsible for 
the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 

 Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the consolidated entity and the 
revenue can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

 Interest 
Interest revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest method. This is a method of calculating 
the amortised cost of a financial asset and allocating the interest income over the relevant period using the effective 
interest rate, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. 

 Government grants 
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and the consolidated entity will comply with all the attached conditions. Government grants relating to 
costs are deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they 
are intended to compensate. Government grants relating to the purchase or development of assets, including 
exploration and evaluation activities, are deducted from the carrying value of the asset.  

 

Other revenue 

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. 

 Income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the year is the tax payable on that period's taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences and unused tax losses and under and over provision in prior years, where applicable. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, 
except for: 

 When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting nor taxable profits; or 

 When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in 
joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable 
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 
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Note 1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date. Deferred 
tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available 
for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that 
it is probable that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable 
authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entity's which intend to settle simultaneously. 

 
 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, 
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 Trade and other receivables 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 

 Joint ventures 
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is 
subject to joint control. Investments in joint ventures are accounted for in the parent entity financial statements using 
the cost method, less any impairment, and in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method. Under the 
equity method, the share of the profits or losses of the joint venture is recognised in profit or loss and the share of the 
movements in equity is recognised in other comprehensive income. Income earned from joint venture entities is 
recognised as revenue in the parent entity’s profit or loss, whilst in the consolidated financial statements they reduce 
the carrying amount of the investment. 

 Investments and other financial assets 
Investments and other financial assets are measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their 
classification. Classification is determined based on the purpose of the acquisition and subsequent reclassification to 
other categories is restricted. The fair values of quoted investments are based on current bid prices. For unlisted 
investments, the consolidated entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of 
recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow 
analysis, and option pricing models. 

 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or 
have been transferred and the consolidated entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 

 Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. They are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 

 Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets, principally equity securities, that are either 
designated as available-for-sale or not classified as any other category. After initial recognition, fair value movements 
are recognised directly in the available-for-sale reserve in equity. Cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the 
available-for-sale reserve is recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired. 
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Note 1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Impairment of financial assets 
The consolidated entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes significant financial difficulty of the 
issuer or obligor; a breach of contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to a borrower 
concessions due to economic or legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise do; it becomes probable that the 
borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active market for the financial 
asset; or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows. 

 The amount of the impairment allowance for loans and receivables carried at amortised cost is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. If there is a reversal of impairment, the reversal cannot exceed the amortised cost that would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised and is reversed to profit or loss. 

 
Available-for-sale financial assets are considered impaired when there has been a significant or prolonged decline in 
value below initial cost. Subsequent increments in value are recognised directly in the available-for-sale reserve. 

 

 Property, plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s 
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the consolidated entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment  
over their expected useful lives as follows: 

  Plant and equipment 
 

20% per annum 
     Software/IT hardware  33% per annum     

 The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting 
date. 

 An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to 
the consolidated entity. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit 
or loss.  

 Exploration and evaluation assets 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current is 
carried forward as an asset in the statement of financial position where it is expected that the expenditure will be 
recovered through the successful development and exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or exploration 
activities are continuing in an area and activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable estimate of the 
existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. Where a project or an area of interest has been 
abandoned, the expenditure incurred thereon is written off in the year in which the decision is made. 

 Restoration, rehabilitation and environmental expenditure 
Costs of site restoration for development activities are provided over the life of the area of interest  When development 
commences, site restoration costs would include the dismantling and removal of mining plant, equipment and building 
structure, waste removal, and rehabilitation of the site in accordance with clauses of mining permits.  Such costs will 
be determined using estimates of future costs, current legal requirements and technology on an undiscounted basis. 
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Note 1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Estimates of future costs are reassessed at least annually.  Changes in estimates relating to areas of interest in the 
exploration and evaluation phase are dealt with retrospectively, with any amounts that would have been written off or 
provided against under the accounting policy for exploration and evaluation immediately written off. 

 Restoration from exploration drilling is carried out at the time of drilling and accordingly no provision is required. 

 Impairment of non-financial assets 
Where applicable, goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they 
might be impaired. Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the 
amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset 
or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped 
together to form a cash-generating unit. 

 

 Trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the consolidated entity prior to the end of the 
financial year and which are unpaid. Due to their short-term nature they are measured at amortised cost and not 
discounted. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition. 

 Borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. 
They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date, 
the loans or borrowings are classified as non-current. 

 The component of the convertible notes that exhibits characteristics of a liability is recognised as a liability in the 
statement of financial position, net of transaction costs. 

 On the issue of the convertible notes the fair value of the liability component is determined using a market rate for an 
equivalent non-convertible bond and this amount is carried as a non-current liability on the amortised cost basis until 
extinguished on conversion or redemption. The increase in the liability due to the passage of time, is recognised as a 
finance cost. The remainder of the proceeds are allocated to the conversion option that is recognised and included in 
shareholders’ equity as a convertible note reserve, net of transaction costs. The carrying amount of the conversion 
option is not remeasured in the subsequent years. The corresponding interest on convertible notes is expensed to 
profit or loss. 

 

Finance costs 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed 
in the period in which they are incurred, including interest on short-term and long-term borrowings. 

 Provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the consolidated entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a 
past event, it is probable the consolidated entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be 
made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration 
required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax 
rate specific to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance 
cost. 
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Note 1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Employee benefits 

Wages and salaries and annual leave 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, and annual leave expected to be settled within 12 
months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees' services up to the reporting 
date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. 

 Share-based payments 

Equity-settled share-based compensation benefits are provided to directors and employees. 

 Equity-settled transactions are awards of shares, or options over shares, that are provided to employees in exchange 
for the rendering of services. Cash-settled transactions are awards of cash for the exchange of services, where the 
amount of cash is determined by reference to the share price. 
 
The cost of equity-settled transactions are measured at fair value on grant date. Fair value is independently 
determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the 
option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the 
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option, together with non-vesting conditions 
that do not determine whether the consolidated entity receives the services that entitle the employees to receive 
payment. No account is taken of any other vesting conditions. 

 
The cost of equity-settled transactions are recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity over the 
vesting period. The cumulative charge to profit or loss is calculated based on the grant date fair value of the award, the 
best estimate of the number of awards that are likely to vest and the expired portion of the vesting period. The amount 
recognised in profit or loss for the period is the cumulative amount calculated at each reporting date less amounts 
already recognised in previous periods. 

 
Market conditions are taken into consideration in determining fair value. Therefore any awards subject to market 
conditions are considered to vest irrespective of whether or not that market condition has been met, provided all other 
conditions are satisfied. 

 If equity-settled awards are modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the modification has not been 
made. An additional expense is recognised, over the remaining vesting period, for any modification that increases the 
total fair value of the share-based compensation benefit as at the date of modification. 

 If the non-vesting condition is within the control of the consolidated entity or employee, the failure to satisfy the 
condition is treated as a cancellation. If the condition is not within the control of the consolidated entity or employee 
and is not satisfied during the vesting period, any remaining expense for the award is recognised over the remaining 
vesting period, unless the award is forfeited. 

 If equity-settled awards are cancelled, it is treated as if it has vested on the date of cancellation, and any remaining 
expense is recognised immediately. If a new replacement award is substituted for the cancelled award, the cancelled 
and new award is treated as if they were a modification. 

 Contributed equity 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

 Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 
tax, from the proceeds. 

 Dividends 

Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and no longer at the discretion of the Company. 
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Note 1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Business combinations 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity 
instruments or other assets are acquired. 

 The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity 
instruments issued or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is 
measured at either fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs 
are expensed as incurred to profit or loss. 

 On the acquisition of a business, the consolidated entity assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed 
for appropriate classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the 
consolidated entity's operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition-
date. 

Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the consolidated entity re-measures its previously held equity 
interest in the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous 
carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not re-measured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
equity. 

 
The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing 
investment in the acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is 
less than the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference 
is recognised as a gain directly in profit or loss by the acquirer on the acquisition-date, but only after a reassessment 
of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, 
the consideration transferred and the acquirer's previously held equity interest in the acquirer. 

 Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the 
provisional amounts recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement period, 
based on new information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition-date. The 
measurement period ends on either the earlier of (i) 12 months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the 
acquirer receives all the information possible to determine fair value. 

 Investments in associates 
Associates are those entities in which the consolidated entity has significant influence, but not control, over the 
financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the consolidated entity holds between 
20 and 50 percent of the voting power of another entity. 

 
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method (equity-accounted investees) and are initially 
recognised at cost. The cost of the investment includes transaction costs. 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the consolidated entity’s share of the profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income of equity-accounted investees, after adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of 
the consolidated entity, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence 
ceases. 

 
When the consolidated entity’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the carrying 
amount of that interest, including any long-term investments that form part thereof, is reduced to zero, and the 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the consolidated entity has an obligation or has 
made payments on behalf of the investee. 
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Note 1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Metro Mining Limited, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 

 Diluted earnings per share 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary 
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to 
dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

 

Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not 
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or as 
part of the expense. 

 
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST 
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement of 
financial position. 
 
Goods and Services Tax ('GST') and other similar taxes (continued) 
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing 
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash flows.  
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax 
authority. 

 

New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted 
A number of new standards, amendments and interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 July 
2015, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements.  None of these is expected to have a 
significant effect on the financial statements, except for the following: 

  

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard replaces all 
previous versions of AASB 9 and completes the project to replace IAS 39 'Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement'. AASB 9 introduces new classification and measurement models for financial assets. A financial asset 
shall be measured at amortised cost, if it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows, which arise on specified dates and solely principal and interest. All other financial 
instrument assets are to be classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss unless the entity makes an 
irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on equity instruments (that are not held-for-
trading) in other comprehensive income ('OCI'). For financial liabilities, the standard requires the portion of the change 
in fair value that relates to the entity's own credit risk to be presented in OCI (unless it would create an accounting 
mismatch). New simpler hedge accounting requirements are intended to more closely align the accounting treatment 
with the risk management activities of the entity. New impairment requirements will use an 'expected credit loss' 
('ECL') model to recognise an allowance. Impairment will be measured under a 12-month ECL method unless the 
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition in which case the lifetime ECL 
method is adopted. The standard introduces additional new disclosures. The consolidated entity will adopt this 
standard from 1 July 2018 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the consolidated entity. 
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Note 1.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted (continued)  
 
AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard provides a 
single standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standard is that an entity will recognise revenue to 
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which 
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard will require: contracts (either 
written, verbal or implied) to be identified, together with the separate performance obligations within the contract; 
determine the transaction price, adjusted for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction 
price to the separate performance obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or 
service, or estimation approach if no distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue when each 
performance obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be presented separately as an expense rather than adjusted to 
revenue. For goods, the performance obligation would be satisfied when the customer obtains control of the goods. 
For services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the service has been provided, typically for promises to 
transfer services to customers. For performance obligations satisfied over time, an entity would select an appropriate 
measure of progress to determine how much revenue should be recognised as the performance obligation is satisfied. 
Contracts with customers will be presented in an entity's statement of financial position as a contract liability, a 
contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity's performance and the customer's 
payment. Sufficient quantitative and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to understand the contracts with 
customers; the significant judgments made in applying the guidance to those contracts; and any assets recognised 
from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The consolidated entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 
2018 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the consolidated entity. 
 

Change in accounting policy 

During the year the consolidated entity changed its accounting policy for refundable R & D tax offsets.. 

The consolidated entity previously accounted for refundable R & D tax offsets as an income tax benefit. The company 
has determined that these incentives are more akin to government grants because they are not conditional upon 
earning taxable income. The group has therefore made a voluntary change in accounting policy during the reporting 
period. Refundable tax offsets are now accounted for as government grants under AASB 120 "Accounting for 
Government Grants and Disclosure of Government Assistance" because the directors consider this policy to provide 
more relevant information to meet the economic decision making needs of users, and to make the financial statements 
more reliable. 

The effect of this change in accounting policy on the financial report can be summarised as follows: 

 

 
  2015  2014 

  Before  After  Before  After 

  $  $  $  $ 

Income tax benefit  527,091  -  633,899  - 

Exploration and evaluation assets  12,519,785  11,922,694  9,472,006  9,472,006 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets  -  -  16,322,297  13,701,736 

Opening accumulated losses  34,087,971  34,087,971  16,537,928  18,524,590 

         
The effect of this change in accounting policy on amounts prior to 1 July 2013 was to decrease exploration and 
evaluation assets by $1,986,662 and to increase accumulated losses by the same amount. 
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Note 2.  Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

 The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and 
estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its 
judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations 
of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting 
judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below. 

 Share-based payment transactions – note 25 
The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by reference to the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using either the Black-
Scholes model or Monte Carlo simulation taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the instruments 
were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled share-based payments would have 
no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next annual reporting period but may impact profit 
or loss and equity. 

 Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets – note 13 
Exploration and evaluation costs have been capitalised on the basis that the consolidated entity will commence 
commercial production in the future, from which time the costs will be amortised in proportion to the depletion of the 
mineral resources. Key judgements are applied in considering costs to be capitalised which includes determining 
expenditures directly related to these activities and allocating overheads between those that are expensed and 
capitalised. In addition, costs are only capitalised that are expected to be recovered either through successful 
development or sale of the relevant mining interest. Factors that could impact the future commercial production at the 
mine include the level of reserves and resources, future technology changes, which could impact the cost of mining, 
future legal changes and changes in commodity prices. To the extent that capitalised costs are determined not to be 
recoverable in the future, they will be written off in the period in which this determination is made. 
 

 

Accounting for Cape Alumina Limited acquisition – note 28 
The consolidated entity accounted for the acquisition of Cape Alumina Limited as an asset acquisition rather than a 
business combination. 

 

 

 

 
Note 3.  Operating segments 

 Identification of reportable operating segments 
The consolidated entity has identified its operating segments based on the internal reports that are reviewed and used 
by the board of directors (chief operating decision makers) in assessing performance and determining the allocation of 
resources. The consolidated entity is managed primarily on a geographic basis, that is the location of the respective 
areas of interest (tenements) in Australia. Operating segments are determined on the basis of financial information 
reported to the board which is at the consolidated entity level. The consolidated entity does not have any 
products/services it derives revenue from. 

 
Accordingly, management currently identifies the consolidated entity as having only one reportable segment, being 
exploration for coal and bauxite. There have been no changes in the operating segments during the year. Accordingly, 
all significant operating decisions are based upon analysis of the consolidated entity as one segment. The financial 
results from this segment are equivalent to the financial statements of the consolidated entity as a whole.  
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Consolidated 

      
2015 

 
2014 

Note 4.  Revenue 
     

$ 
 

$ 

Other income         

Administration fees and recharge of expenses      228,158 ` 348,259 

         

Other income      245,360  90,987 

Total Other income      473,518  439,246 

 

Note 5.  Expenses 

Loss before income tax includes the following specific expenses:         

         Employee benefits expense 
     

 
  Salaries, wages, fees and provisions 

     
1,020,333 

 
726,349 

Share based payments 
     

128,919 
 

- 

Superannuation contributions 
     

60,154 
 

128,784 

  
  

 
  

 
 

  Total employee benefits expense 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

1,209,406 
 

855,133 

  
  

 
  

 
 

  Other expenses 
     

 
  ASX and share registry costs 

     
257,662 

 
59,899 

Professional fees 
     

595,990 
 

189,724 

Other expenses 
     

1,287,826 
 

540,892 

  
  

 
  

 
 

  Total other expenses 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

2,141,478 
 

790,515 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

 

 

  



Metro Mining Limited 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2015 

38 

 

    
Consolidated 

      
2015 

 
2014 

Note 6.  Income tax 
     

$ 
 

$ 

The components of tax expense comprise:         

Current tax      (1,373,976)  (7,911,315) 

Deferred tax      1,373,976  7,519,937 

Under provision from prior year      -  391,378 

         

Total income tax expense/(benefit)      -  - 

         

Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit to prima facie tax payable       

Profit/(Loss) before income tax expense 
     

(2,773,292) 
 
(15,694,963) 

      
 

  Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (2014: 30%) 
     

(831,988) 
 

(4,708,489) 

         Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in 
calculating taxable income: 

                  

 Tax consolidation with Cape Alumina      740,297  - 

 Other permanent differences      43,515  (208,955) 

 Deferred tax not recognised       48,175  4,526,066 

          

 Less tax effect of:         

 Prior period under/over provision      -  391,378 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

Total income tax expense/(benefit) 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

- 
 

- 

 Deferred taxes         

Net unrecognised deferred tax assets 
        Unused tax losses       12,636,881  16,879,696 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 
 

  
 
  

 
(3,755,936) 

 
(4,192,989) 

Other deductible temporary differences 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

2,839,754 
 

2,412,102 

         

Total net unrecognised deferred tax assets      11,720,699  15,098,809 

      
 

  Gross amounts of items in net unrecognised deferred tax balances         

Unused tax losses      42,122,936  56,265,652 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure      (12,519,785)  (13,976,629) 

Other deductible temporary differences      9,465,846  8,040,340 

         

Total gross amounts of items in net unrecognised deferred tax balances      39,068,997  50,329,363 

         
The above potential tax benefit for tax losses has not been recognised in the statement of financial position. These tax 
losses can only be utilised in the future if the continuity of ownership test is passed, or failing that, the same business 
test is passed. The above potential tax benefit, which excludes tax losses, for deductible temporary differences has 
not been recognised in the statement of financial position as the recovery of this benefit is uncertain. 
 
Management believes under the current circumstances, that $15,970,826 of the unused tax losses brought forward 
from the prior year ($56,265,652) would be unlikely to pass either the continuity of ownership test or the same 
business test at the present time. Accordingly these are no longer shown in the unrecognised unused tax loss balance 
above of $42,122,936.   

The consolidated entity has no franking credits. 
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Consolidated 

      
2015 

 
2014 

Note 7.  Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 
     

$ 
 

$ 

Cash at bank 
     

1,575,795 
 

1,384,696 

Cash on deposit 
     

1,540,751 
 

6,137,553 

  
  

 
  

 
 

  Total Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

3,116,546 
 

7,522,249 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Note 8.  Current assets - trade and other receivables 

Trade debtors      57,056  34,947 

Other receivables 
     

64,467 
 

45,726 

Interest receivable 
     

6,047 
 

1,438 

  
  

 
  

 
 

  Total Current assets - trade and other receivables 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

127,570 
 

82,111 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Impairment of receivables 

The consolidated entity does not have any impaired receivables. 

 Note 9.  Non-current assets - other assets  

Term deposit      -  377,086 

Other assets      91,424  88,695 

Total Non-current assets - other assets 
     

 
91,424 

 
465,781 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

In the prior year the term deposit was an amount of $377,086 with Macquarie Bank who hold security over this cash 
pursuant to the bank guarantee detailed in note 23. This guarantee was released in the current financial year and the 
term deposit transferred to cash at bank. 

 Note 10.  Non-current assets – available-for-sale financial assets 
     

   

Investment in listed entity 
     

- 
 

- 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

During the prior year, the Company advanced $1,000,000 to Cape Alumina Limited through a convertible note. 

Following the termination of the proposed merger between the two companies, Cape Alumina Limited converted the 
$1,000,000 convertible note into shares in Cape Alumina Limited. As a result, the Company was issued with 
16,666,667 shares (6.87%) in Cape Alumina Limited. 

Subsequent to being issued with the shares in Cape Alumina Limited, the Company impaired its investment in Cape 
Alumina Limited by $900,000. The impairment recognised was based on the market value of Cape Alumina Limited 
shares as the date the Company obtained control. 

      
   

Note 11.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment       

Plant and equipment - at cost 
     

282,006 
 

357,584 

Less: Accumulated depreciation 
     

(256,826) 
 

(285,531) 

  
 -   

 
 -   

 
   

Total Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

25,180 
 

72,503 
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      Consolidated 

      
2015  2014 

Note 11.  Non-current assets - property, plant and equipment (continued)  $  $ 

Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below: 

     
Plant and 

 

     
Equipment Total 

Consolidated $ 
 

$ 
 

$ 
 

$ 
 

$ 
 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2013  -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

112,124 
 

112,124 

Additions  -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

8,999  8,999 

Disposals         -  - 

Depreciation expense  -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

(49,070)  (49,070) 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
 

  Balance at 30 June 2014  -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

72,053  72,053 

Additions  -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

22,850  22,850 

Disposals         (24,524)  (24,524) 

Depreciation expense  -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

(45,199)  (45,199) 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
   

Balance at 30 June 2015  -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

25,180  25,180 

      
   

Note 12.  Non-current assets – investments in associate        

Information relating to associates is set out below:        

  Ownership interest  Consolidated 

Name of Company 
Country of 

Incorporation 
2015 

%  
2014 

%  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 

Tenement to Terminal Pty Ltd Australia 20  20  -  - 

         
Tenement to Terminal Pty Ltd was formed to develop a new coal terminal in Gladstone. The investment was fully 
impaired in prior years. 

 

Note 13.  Non-current assets - exploration and evaluation 
     

   

Exploration and evaluation  - at cost 
     

11,992,694 
 

9,472,006 

  
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Reconciliations 

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set 
out below: 

     
Exploration & 

 

      
evaluation  Total 

Consolidated 
        

$ 
 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2013 
        

21,372,419 
 

21,372,419 

Expenditure during the year 
 

2,435,222 
 

2,435,222 

R and D tax offset  (633,899)  (633,899) 

Impaired during the year  (13,701,736)  (13,701,736) 

            Balance at 30 June 2014 
        

9,472,006 
 

9,472,006 

Expenditure during the year 
  

3,047,779  3,047,779 

R and D tax offset   (527,091)  (527,091) 

Impaired during the year   -  - 

         
   

Balance at 30 June 2015 
        

11,992,694  11,992,694 
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The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration and evaluation phases is dependent upon successful 
development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas of interest. The Company resolved to impair 
the Columboola, Norwood and Dalby West, tenements to nil in the prior year on the basis that there was unlikely to be 
any further exploration activity in the near term. The Company still holds title on these tenements and is of the view 
that the tenements are potentially prospective for future development. 
 
In the prior year, Bundi coal tenements were partially impaired due to the delay in development and the decision to 
stop significant expenditure. The delay in development was due to rail and port infrastructure issues as well as the 
depressed coal prices. The Bundi coal tenement asset was been recorded at fair value. The basis of fair value was 
derived from market values of similar assets, supported by the Independent Expert Report prepared for Cape Alumina 
Limited for the purposes of Cape Alumina’s Target’s Statement (released to the ASX on 15 September 2014). 
 
In the current year, management reassessed the fair value of the Bundi coal tenements using recent Surat Basin coal 
transactions and other market data to determine that no further impairments of the Bundi Coal assets were required at 
30 June 2015.   
 

      Consolidated 

  
2015  2014 

Note 14.  Current liabilities - trade and other payables 
  

$  $ 

Trade payables 145,934 159,265 

Other payables 581,566 140,599 

 
     

Total Current liabilities - trade and other payables  -  - 727,500 299,864 

 
        

Refer to note 24 for detailed information on financial instruments. 

Note 15.  Current liabilities – employee benefits 
  

   

Annual leave 43,128  89,791 

        

Note 16.  Equity – contributed Consolidated Consolidated 

 
2015 2014 2015 2014 

 
Shares Shares $ $ 

 Ordinary shares - fully paid 288,717,999 208,883,663 47,491,109 45,149,187 

        

Ordinary shares         

Balance at beginning of period  208,883,663  208,883,663  45,149,187 45,149,187 

Shares issued during the year:        

- Takeover of Cape Alumina Limited  79,834,336  -  2,341,922 - 

Transaction costs recognised during the year  -  -  - - 

Balance at end of the period  288,717,999  208,883,663  47,491,109 45,149,187 

    

Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value. 

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll 
each share shall have one vote. 

 

Ordinary shares have no par value and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 

 

Share buy-back 

There is no current on-market share buy-back. 
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Capital risk management 
The consolidated entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital 
structure to reduce the cost of capital. In common with many other exploration companies, the parent raises finance 
for the consolidated entity’s exploration and appraisal activities in discrete tranches. 

 

    
Consolidated 

      
2015 

 
2014 

Note 17.  Equity - reserves 
     

$ 
 

$ 

Options reserve 
     

5,715,426 
 

5,586,507 

Change in interest of subsidiary      (2,045,399)  - 

Total Equity - reserves      3,670,027  5,586,507 

      

Change in 
interest of 
subsidiary  Options  Total 

Consolidated $ 
 

$ 
 

bb$ 
 

$$ 
 

$ 
 

$ 

Balance at 1 July 2013 and 30 June 2014 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

5,586,507  5,586,507 

 
Options granted during the year 

     
- 

 
128,919-  128,919 

Change in interest of subsidiary      (2,045,399)  -  (2,045,399) 

  
 

  
 
  

 
  

 
   

Balance at 30 June 2015 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

(2,045,399)   
 

5,715,426  3,670,027 

 

Options reserve 

The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of their 
remuneration and the value of other options issued. 

Change in interest of subsidiary reserve 

The reserve is used to recognise the movement in the carrying amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests to 
reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary arising from a change in ownership interest. 

 

Note 18.  Equity – dividends 

Dividends 
There were no dividends paid or declared during the current or previous financial year. There were no franking credits 
at 30 June 2015 (2014: nil). 

  
Consolidated 

Note 19.  Earnings per share 
 

2015 
 

2014 

  
$ 

 
$ 

Profit/(Loss) after income tax attributable to the owners of Metro Mining Limited 
 

(2,488,090) 
 

(15,563,381) 

  
  

 
  

  
Number 

 
Number 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
basic earnings per share 

 
259,523,842 

 
208,883,663 

  
 

  Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating 
diluted earnings per share 

 
259,523,842 

 
208,883,663 

  
  

 
  

  
Cents 

 
Cents 

Basic earnings per share 
 

(1.07) 
 

(7.45) 

Diluted earnings per share 
 

(1.07) 
 

(7.45) 

 Options could potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were not included in the calculation of 
diluted earnings per share because they are antidilutive. 
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Consolidated 

Note 20.  Reconciliation of loss after income tax to net cash used in operating 
activities 

 

2015 
$ 

 

2014 
$ 

Profit/(Loss) after income tax benefit for the year 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

(2,773,292) 
 

(15,694,963) 

      
 

  Adjustments for: 
     

 
  Depreciation and amortisation 

     
45,199 

 
49,070 

Options expense      128,919  - 

Impairment of exploration and evaluation assets 
     

- 
 

13,701,736 

Impairment of investment in listed entity      -  900,000 

      
 

  Change in operating assets and liabilities: 
     

 
  

 
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 

     
(25,953) 

 
(27,911) 

 
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments 

     
4,903 

 
73,874 

 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 

     
(126,870) 

 
(684,842) 

 
Increase/(decrease) in employee benefits 

     
(46,663) 

 
(46,037) 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

Net cash used in operating activities 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

(2,793,757) 
 

(1,729,073) 

  
  

 
  

 
 

  Acquisitions of subsidiaries         

Cash to acquire subsidiaries, net of cash acquired:         

Cash consideration      -  733,175 

Less cash acquired      -  (1,666,849) 

Inflow of cash – investing activities      -  (933,674) 

 

Note 21.  Remuneration of auditors 

 During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by BDO Audit Pty Ltd, the 
auditor of the Company, and its related practices: 

      Consolidated 

      2015  2014 

Audit services - BDO Audit Pty Ltd 
        Audit or review of the financial report 
     

59,027 
 

43,000 

  
  

 
  

 
 

  Other services - BDO (QLD) Pty Ltd 
     

 
  Taxation services 

     
83,992 

 
39,800 

Corporate services      11,658  - 

  
  

 
  

 
 

  Total Remuneration of auditors 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

154,677 
 

82,800 

  
  

 
  

 
 

 
  

Note 22.  Commitments for expenditure 
     

   

Lease commitments - operating  
     

 
  Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:     

Within one year 
     

140,818 
 

13,555 

One to five years 
     

100,739 
 

- 

  
  

 
  

 
 

  Total Commitments for expenditure 
 

 -   
 

 -   
 

241,558 
 

13,555 

 
The operating lease commitment comprises rent payable for the Company’s office lease and lease of office 
equipment. 
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Note 23.  Contingent assets and liabilities 
 
Contingent Assets  
 
As part of the sale agreement of its Hey Point bauxite tenement on Western Cape York, the Consolidated Entity is 
entitled to receive royalties of 2% to 3% of future gross sales proceeds on all bauxite sold from the project. In relation 
to the cash payments, $750,000 has been received and the receipt of the remaining $825,000 is still to be paid by 18 
December 2015, and thus has been recognised as a contingent asset. As this project is still in development it is 
premature to determine whether royalties or further cash payments will be received in future years. 
 
The Consolidated Entity has an option of purchasing the Hey Point tenements for $1 if $275,000 is not received by 18 
September 2015 or if the remaining payment of $550,000 is not received by 18 December 2015. 
 
Contingent Liabilities 
 
Certain tenements to which the Consolidated Entity has an interest may be subject to native title or similar claims. The 
position regarding likely success and impact on the Consolidated Entity’s operations are unknown at balance date. It is 
management’s intention to continue to work through these matters, including the execution of native title agreements 
in relation to the Bauxite Hills project, if such an agreement can be negotiated successfully. 
 
Other than the above, the Consolidated Entity does not believe it has any contingent liability arising from any possible 
Native Title or other claims. 

 Metro Mining Limited entered into a Feasibility Funding Deed with Wiggins Island Coal Export Terminal Pty Ltd 
(WICET) to fund a proportion of feasibility costs in return for securing terminal capacity for the planned port expansion 
at Wiggins Island, Gladstone. Under the requirements of this deed, on 3 December 2010 Metro Mining Limited 
provided WICET a bank guarantee for $375,000 to cover their costs. This guarantee was released during the financial 
year and the term deposit held as security has also been released. 

 

Note 24.  Financial instruments 

 Financial risk management objectives 

Risk management is carried out under policies set by the board of directors. 

 

The board provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific areas. 

 
The board monitors the financial risk relating to the operations of the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity’s 
activities include exposure to market risk, fair value interest rate risk and price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, interest 
rate risk and operational risk. The consolidated entity does not hedge these risk exposures. The consolidated entity 
does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes. 
The overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of the finance markets and seeks to minimise 
the potential adverse effects on the financial performance. Risk management is carried out under the oversight of the 
board of directors. 

 

Significant accounting policies 
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial 
asset, financial liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 1 to the financial statements. 

 

Market risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices 
will affect the consolidated entity’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The objective of market 
risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable parameters while optimising the 
return. 
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Note 24.  Financial instruments (continued) 
 
The consolidated entity’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates on its cash and 
cash equivalents and term deposit.  It is the policy of the consolidated entity to manage their risks by continuously 
monitoring interest rates.  There has been no change to the consolidated entity’s exposure to market risks or the 
manner in which it manages and measures the risk from the previous period. 

 Foreign currency risk 
The consolidated entity undertakes some purchase transactions in foreign currency, predominantly in US dollars. The 
company is currently unhedged due to the immateriality of these purchases but will look to manage this risk should 
these purchases become more material in the future. 

 

Price risk 
The consolidated entity is not exposed to any material price risk. As the Company continues to develop its Bauxite 
Hills project, it will look to manage this risk should this exposure become more material in the future. 

 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risks are caused by fluctuations in interest rates which, in turn, are due to market factors. 

 Interest rate sensitivity 
The consolidated entity’s main interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents. The sensitivity to a reasonably 
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the consolidated entity profit/loss before 
taxes through a decrease or an increase of 0.25% (2014: 0.25%) in interest rates at 30 June 2015 is an 
increase/decrease in cash and cash equivalents of $28,757 (2014: $38,193). 

 

Credit risk 
Credit risk is managed on a consolidated entity basis. Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the consolidated entity. The consolidated entity has a strict code of 
credit, including obtaining agency credit information, confirming references and setting appropriate credit limits. The 
consolidated entity obtains guarantees where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk 
at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of 
those assets, as disclosed in the statement of financial position and notes to the financial statements. The 
consolidated entity does not hold any collateral. The consolidated entity is not exposed to any material credit risks and 
only trades with credit worthy third parties. 

 

Liquidity risk 
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the consolidated entity to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and 
cash equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and 
payable. 

 
The consolidated entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and by continually monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and cash balances. The parent entity raises equity for the consolidated entity’s 
exploration and appraisal activities in discrete tranches. 

 
At 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014 the only financial liabilities of the consolidated entity and the parent entity were 
trade payables and accruals. All trade payables and accruals have a contractual maturity of 6 months or less.  

 

Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the consolidated entity's remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. 
The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date 
on which the financial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows 
disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the 
statement of financial position. 
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Note 24.  Financial instruments (continued) 

 
 
 
Consolidated 
 

Weighted 
average 
interest 

rate 
 

1 year 
 or less 

 

Between 1 
and 

 2 years 
 

Between 2 
and 

 5 years 
 

Over 5 
 years 

 

Remaining 
contractual 

maturities 

2015 % 
 

$ 
 

$ 
 

$ 
 

$ 
 

$ 

Non-derivatives 
           Non-interest bearing 
           Trade payables -  145,934  -  -  -  145,934 

Other payables -  581,566  -  -  -  581,566 

Total non-derivatives   727,500  -  -  -  727,500 

            2014            

Non-derivatives 
           Non-interest bearing 
           Trade payables  -  

 
159,265 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- 

 
159,265 

Other payables  -   
 

140,599 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

140,599 

Total non-derivatives 
  

299,864 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

299,864 

            The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than disclosed. 

 

Fair value of financial instruments 

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities, together with their carrying amounts in the statement of financial 
position, for the consolidated entity are as follows: 

 

    
2015 

 
2014 

Consolidated 
   

Carrying 
amount 

 
Fair value 

 

Carrying 
amount 

 
Fair value 

    
$ 

 
$ 

 
$ 

 
$ 

Assets 
          Cash and cash equivalents 
   

3,116,546  3,116,546 
 

7,522,249 
 

7,522,249 

Trade and other receivables 
   

127,570  127,570 
 

82,111 
 

82,111 

Term deposits 
   

-  - 
 

377,086 
 

377,086 

Total Assets 
   

3,244,116  3,244,116 
 

7,981,446 
 

7,981,446 

Liabilities 
   

   
    Trade payables 

   
145,934  145,934 

 
159,265 

 
159,265 

Other payables 
   

581,566  581,566 
 

140,599 
 

140,599 

Total Liabilities 
   

727,500  727,500 
 

299,864 
 

299,864 
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Note 25.  Share-based payments 

 The Company has established the Metro Mining Employee Share Option Plan (ESOP) to enable the issue of shares or 
options in Metro Mining to employees of the Company to assist in the retention and motivation of employees. Under 
the ESOP, the Company may offer shares or options over unissued shares in the Company. 

 

Features of the ESOP are as follows: 

 

 The persons who are eligible to participate in the ESOP are full-time or part-time continuing employees of the                                                                                                                         
Company or an associated body corporate of the Company (Eligible Employee) or their nominee who have been 
selected by the board to participate in the ESOP; 

 The Company is entitled under the terms of the ESOP to determine a period that any shares or options offered 
under the ESOP will be unable to be transferred by the recipient (disposal restrictions); 

 The Company is entitled to determine in its discretion any conditions which may apply to the offer of shares or 
options (including the issue price, exercise price, vesting conditions and disposal restrictions);  

 Where options subject to disposal restrictions are exercised, the resulting shares will be subject to the balance of 
the disposal restriction; 

 The options may be exercised wholly or in part by notice in writing to the Company received at any time during 
the relevant exercise period together with a cheque for the exercise price for those options for cancellation by the 
Company. 

 The Company shall allot the number of shares the subject of any exercise notice and apply for listing of the 
shares  issued as a result; 

 Shares issued on the exercise of the options will rank paripassu with all existing shares of the Company from the 
date of issue;  

 The number of shares which may be acquired on the exercise of an option and the exercise price will be adjusted, 
as is appropriate, following any pro-rata bonus issue, rights issue, reconstruction or re-organisation of the issued 
ordinary capital of the Company. 

 

There are no vesting conditions for options issued in the current or prior years. 

 
The maximum number of shares and options that may be offered to participants under the ESOP is 5% of the issued 
capital at the time. 

 Quotation of options on the ASX will not be sought, however quotation of shares (not subject to disposal restrictions) 
issued under the ESOP will be sought.  The Company will apply for quotation of shares arising upon the exercise of 
options. 
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Note 25.  Share-based payments (continued) 

     Set out below are summaries of options granted under the plan: 

   
Balance at 

     
Expired/ 

 
Balance at 

 
 Exercise the start of 

     
forfeited/ 

 
the end of 

Grant date Expiry date price the year 
 

Granted 
 

Exercised 
 

other 
 

the year 

2015  
          12/01/15 11/01/17 $0.06 -  10,750,000  -  -  10,750,000 

20/11/12 11/07/15 $0.235 1,000,000  -  -  -  1,000,000 

20/11/12 11/07/15 $0.50 1,000,000  -  -  (500,000)  500,000 

Total 2015 Options 2,000,000 
 
10,750,000  -  (500,000)  12,250,000 

            

2014  
          01/07/09 04/12/14 $0.25 500,000 

 
-  -  (500,000)  - 

24/11/10 19/11/13 $0.40 3,250,000 
 

-  -  (3,250,000)  - 

18/05/11 08/05/14 $0.50 750,000 
 

-  -  (750,000)  - 

24/11/11 30/11/13 $0.75 2,500,000 
 

-  -  (2,500,000)  - 

24/11/11 30/11/13 $0.78 2,500,000 
 

-  -  (2,500,000)  - 

20/11/12 11/07/15 $0.235 1,000,000  -  -  -  1,000,000 

20/11/12 11/07/15 $0.50 1,000,000  -  -  -  1,000,000 

Total 2014 Options 11,500,000 
 

-  -  (9,500,000)  2,000,000 

 

The weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at the end of the financial year was 1 year 
(2014: 1 years). All options are exercisable at the end of the year. 

 For the options granted during the current financial year, the valuation model inputs used to determine the fair value 
at the grant date, are as follows: 

  

      Share price Exercise  Expected  Dividend  Risk-free  Fair value 

Grant date 
 
Expiry date 

 
at grant date price 

 
volatility 

 
yield 

 interest 
rate 

 
at grant date 

              
12/01/2015  12/01/2017  $0.027 $0.06   119.172%   0.00%   2.20%   $0.012  

 

 
Included under employee benefits expense in the statement of comprehensive income is $128,919 (2014: $nil), which 
relates to equity-settled share based payment transactions. 

 

Note 26.  Related party transactions 

 Parent entity 

Metro Mining Limited is the ultimate parent entity.  

 Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 27. 

 Joint ventures 

Interests in joint ventures are set out in note 29. 
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Note 26.  Related party transactions (continued) 

 Key management personnel 

The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the consolidated 
entity is set out below: 

    
Consolidated 

      
2015 

 
2014 

      
$ 

 
$ 

Short-term employee benefits 
     

1,029,369 
 

1,070,313 

Post-employment benefits 
     

68,360 
 

91,618 

Share-based payments 
     

95,939 
 

- 

-   
Total compensation to directors and KMPs -   

 
1,193,668 

 
1,161,931 

 

Further disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in the remuneration report in the directors' 
report. 

 

Transactions with related parties 

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

    
Consolidated 

      
2015 

 
2014 

Payment for other expenses: 
     

$ 
 

$ 

Legal fees paid to related party (i) 
     

- 
 

277,275 

Rental and other expenses paid to former ultimate parent (ii) 
     

- 
 

84,500 

      
 

  (i) During the prior year the consolidated entity paid legal fees of $277,275 to Hopgood Ganim Lawyers. Mr Michael 
Hansel, who resigned as a director in April 2014, is a partner of Hopgood Ganim Lawyers. The directors agreed 
that these fees were at arm’s length and that Mr Hansel had not participated in the decision to use this firm for 
legal services. 

 (ii) On 14 February 2010, the consolidated entity signed an Agreement for Management and Administration Services 
with its former parent company, Metallica Minerals Limited. This Agreement was terminated in July 2014.   

 Receivable from and payable to related parties 

The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 

 

    
Consolidated 

      
2015 

 
2014 

Current payables: 
     

$ 
 

$ 

Trade payables to other related party – Metallica Minerals Limited      -  8,533 

Trade payables to other related party - HopgoodGanim Lawyers      -  5,161 

         Terms and conditions 

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 
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Note 27.  Subsidiaries 

 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 1. 

 

   
Equity holding 

  

 
Country of 

 
2015 

 
2014 

    Name of entity Incorporation 
 

% 
 

% 
    Huge Energy Pty Ltd Australia 

 
100.00 

 
100.00 

    Bundi Coal Project Pty Ltd Australia 
 

100.00 
 

100.00 
    Metrostructure Pty Ltd Australia  100.00  100.00     

Cape Alumina Pty Ltd (i) Australia  100.00  57.22     
Aldoga Minerals Pty Ltd (i) Australia  100.00  57.22     
Norkay Pty Ltd (i) Australia  100.00  57.22     
Sigma Resources Pty Ltd (ii) Australia  -  57.22     
Sigma Kaolin Pty Ltd (i) Australia  100.00  57.22     

 (i) Cape Alumina Pty Ltd (previously called Cape Alumina Limited) and its subsidiaries were acquired during the 
year ended 30 June 2015. 

(ii) Sigma Resources Pty Ltd was deregistered during the year ended 30 June 2015. 

 Non-controlling interests 

 Set out below is the summarised financial information for each entity that has non-controlling interests that are material 
to the consolidated entity. Amounts are disclosed before intercompany eliminations. 

     Cape Alumina Limited 

  
2015 

 
2014 

Statement of comprehensive income 
 

$ 
 

$ 

Revenue  245,360  326,128 

Loss after income tax 
 

(675,444) 
 

(2,943,525) 

Other comprehensive income 
 

- 
 

- 

Total comprehensive income 
 

(675,444) 
 

(2,943,525) 

  
 

 
 

Loss allocated to non-controlling interests  (285,202)  (131,582) 

Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  -  - 

     

Statement of financial position 
 

 
 

 

Total current assets 
 

946,380 
 

1,429,379 

Total non-current assets  7,640,081  4,913,306 

Total assets 
 

8,586,461 
 

6,342,685 

  
 

 
 

Total current liabilities 
 

343,478 
 

188,184 

Total non-current liabilities  2,763,926  - 

Total liabilities 
 

3,107,404 
 

188,184 

Net assets  5,479,057  6,154,501 

     

Equity 
 
 

 
 

 
Contributed equity 

 
33,951,774 

 
33,858,372 

 
Reserves 

 
702,098 

 
795,500 

 
Accumulated losses 

 
(29,174,815) 

 
(28,499,371) 

Total equity  5,479,057 
 

6,154,501 

 
  

  Accumulated non-controlling interests  -  581,725 
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Note 27.  Subsidiaries (continued) 

  Cape Alumina Limited 

  2015  2014 

Statement of cash flows  $  $ 

Cash flows from operating activities  (527,027)  (2,291,231) 
Cash flows from investing activities  (2,749,196)  1,521 

Cash flows from financing activities  2,763,926  1,000,000 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (512,297)  (1,289,710) 

     

Note 28.  Acquisition of subsidiary 

 During the year, the Consolidated Entity acquired the remaining shares in Cape Alumina Limited, offering existing 
Cape Alumina Shareholders 1 Metro Mining share for every 1.3 shares held in cape Alumina. The fair value of the 
Metro Mining shares issued as consideration was $2,341,922. The carrying amount of the non-controlling interest in 
Cape Alumina immediately prior to the purchase as $296,523. The excess of the consideration paid over the decrease 
in the carrying amount of the non-controlling interest in Cape Alumina, being $2,045,399, has been recognised in the 
“Change of interest in subsidiary reserve”. 

 

Note 29.  Interests in joint ventures 

 In April 2010, the Company entered into a Joint Venture Agreement (JVA) with China Coal Import & Export Company 
(CCIEC), a wholly owned subsidiary of China National Coal Group Corp (China Coal). Under the terms of the 
Agreement, CCIEC acquired a 51% interest in Metro Mining’s EPC 1165 Columboola in the Surat Basin, Queensland 
for an agreed expenditure commitment of AUD$30 million on EPC 1165. The funds will be used for exploring and 
evaluating the potential for future commercialisation options within the Columboola tenement and also opens up the 
opportunity for participation in Metro Mining Limited’s other tenements. Exploration was commenced in 2011. The 
Columboola JVA requires a minimum expenditure of AUD$4 million within the first two years of the agreement and this 
amount has been expended. Approximately $24 million has been expended on this project to date. 
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Note 30.  Parent entity information 

 Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 

  
Parent 

  
2015 

 
2014 

  
$ 

 
$ 

Statement of comprehensive income 
    Loss after income tax 
 

(1,824,082) 
 

(14,651,084) 

  
 

  Total comprehensive income 
 

(1,824,082) 
 

(14,651,084) 

  
 

  Statement of financial position 
 

 
  Total current assets 

 
2,300,025 

 
6,179,884 

Total non-current assets  15,406,483  10,654,320 

  
 

  Total assets 
 

17,706,508 
 

16,834,204 

  
 

  Total current liabilities 
 

427,150 
 

201,472 

Total non-current liabilities  -  - 

  
 

  Total liabilities 
 

427,150 
 

201,472 

  
 

  Net assets  17,279,358  16,632,732 

     

Equity 
 
 

  

 
Contributed equity 

 
47,491,109 

 
45,149,187 

 
Reserves 

 
5,715,426 

 
5,586,507 

 
Accumulated losses 

 
(35,927,177) 

 
(34,102,962) 

  
 

 
  

Total equity 
 

17,279,358 
 
16,632,732 

     Contingent liabilities 

Refer to note 23 for details of contingent liabilities. 

 Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment 

The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment at 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2014. 

 Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the consolidated entity, as disclosed in note 1. 

  

  



Metro Mining Limited 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2015 

53 

 

 
Note 31.  Events occurring after the reporting date 

 On 2 July 2015, the consolidated entity completed a share placement to sophisticated investors. The consolidated 
entity issued 25,000,000 new shares at an issue price of 8 cents per share. The total amount raised, before costs, was 
$2.0 million. 

On 16 July 2015, the consolidated entity announced a fully underwritten non-renounceable rights issue. The total 
amount to be raised, before costs, is approximately $3.60 million. 

Except as noted above, no matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2015 that has significantly affected, or 
may significantly affect the consolidated entity's operations, the results of those operations, or the consolidated entity's 
state of affairs in future financial years. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

  

To the members of Metro Mining Limited 

 

Report on the Financial Report  

We have audited the accompanying financial report of Metro Mining Limited, which comprises the 

consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2015, the consolidated statement of 

comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 

statement of cash flows for the year then ended, notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 

policies and other explanatory information, and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity 

comprising the company and the entities it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the 

financial year.  

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report  

The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a 

true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the 

financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error. In Note 1, the directors also state, in accordance with Accounting Standard AASB 101 

Presentation of Financial Statements, that the financial statements comply with International 

Financial Reporting Standards.  

Auditor’s Responsibility  

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our 

audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with 

relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 

reasonable assurance about whether the financial report is free from material misstatement.   

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the company’s 

preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures 

that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 

effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 

of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as 

well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report.   

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinion.  
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Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations 

Act 2001. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which 

has been given to the directors of Metro Mining Limited, would be in the same terms if given to the 

directors as at the time of this auditor’s report. 

Opinion 

In our opinion: 

(a) the financial report of Metro Mining Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 

including: 

     (i)  giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 2015 and 

of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

     (ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 

Note 1.  

Report on the Remuneration Report  

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in pages 10 to 18 of the directors’ report for the 

year ended 30 June 2015. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 

presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 

2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 

conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  

Opinion  

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Metro Mining Limited for the year ended 30 June 2015 

complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.  

 

BDO Audit Pty Ltd 

 

 

 

 

A J Whyte 

Director 

 

Brisbane, 25 August 2015 
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The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 25 August 2015. 

 Distribution of equitable securities 

Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding: 

          

Number 
of 

          

holders 
of 

          
ordinary 

          
shares 

                      1 to     1,000 
         

642 

    1,001 to     5,000 
         

540 

    5,001 to   10,000 
         

314 

  10,001 to 100,000 
         

745 

100,001 and over 
         

239 

          
  

          
2,480 

           Holding less than a marketable parcel 
         

1,377 

 Equity security holders 

 Twenty largest quoted equity security holders 

The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below: 

 

 
Ordinary shares 

   
% of total 

   
shares 

 
Number held 

 
issued 

    Balanced Property Pty Ltd 54,067,849 
 

17.23 

Dadi Engineering Development (Group) Co. Ltd 28,800,000 
 

9.18 

China Xinfa Group Corporation Limited 20,327,883 
 

6.48 

Mr Gregory Ian Willims 18,819,863 
 

6.00 

Dadi Engineering Development (Group) Hong Kong Co. Ltd 18,450,000 
 

5.88 

Bondline Limited 16,050,223 
 

5.12 

JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 14,343,743 
 

4.57 

Ms Qing Xia 10,342,684 
 

3.30 

Netwealth Investments Limited 5,984,668  1.91 

Remond Holdings Pty Limited 5,251,741  1.67 

ABN AMRO Clearing Sydney Nominees Pty Ltd 4,564,463  1.45 

HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 2,696,848  0.86 

Prima Group Holdings Pty Ltd 2,444,795  0.78 

Mr Leigh David Kalazich 2,288,888  0.73 

Mr Clifford Malcolm Arnold Pratt 2,198,266  0.70 

Chiping Xinfa Huaya Alumina Co Ltd 2,092,519  0.67 

Cape Alumina Ltd (dissenting holders) 1,935,439  0.62 

Mr Timothy John Pratt 1,910,386  0.61 

Jien Mining Pty Ltd 1,709,133  0.54 

Gamore Pty Ltd 1,562,500  0.50 

 
  

 
  

 
215,841,890 

 
68.80 
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Unquoted equity securities 

  
Number 

 
Number 

  
on issue 

 
of holders 

     Options issued under the Metro Mining Employee Share Option Plan 
 

10,750,000  
 

6 

     Substantial holders 

Substantial holders in the Company are set out below: 

  
Ordinary shares 

    
% of total 

    
shares 

  
Number held 

 
issued 

Balanced Property Pty Ltd 
 

54,067,849 
 

17.23 

Dadi Engineering Development (Group) Co. Ltd and related entities 
 

47,250,000 
 

15.06 

China Xinfa Group Corporation Limited and related entities  22,571,507  7.19 

Mr Gregory Ian Willims 
 

18,819,863 
 

6.00 

Bondline Limited and related entities 
 

16,427,989 
 

5.24 

 Voting rights 

The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below: 

 Ordinary shares 

On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and 
upon a poll each share shall have one vote. 

 There are no other classes of equity securities. 

  




